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Annual   Report - 2017-2018 
Welcome Message 
 

South Reading Clinical Commissioning Group is a membership organisation in existence since April 2013. During this time, we have seen huge 
challenges, successes and change. As we go into 2018,  we will see  our biggest transformation to date as we merge with N&W Reading CCG, 
Wokingham CCG and Newbury CCG from 1 April. We are building on our ‘outstanding’ rating from NHE England to provide a firm foundation 
for the system changes across health as we work together with our partners, Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust and Berkshire Healthcare 
Foundation Trust to deliver a new way of working. The Integrated Care System (ICS) will enable health partners to work together as a single 
system, delivering care and services with a combined budget. This is a huge opportunity and we are one of only nine systems nationally to be 
afforded this opportunity.  

 
On behalf of the CCG, I would like to thank Dr Aparna Balaji and Dr Helen George as they stand down from their Governing Body role for all they support and 
help during their time in office. Their contribution has made a significant impact on delivering the objectives we set ourselves.  I will be standing down as Chair 
of the CCG from 31 March 2018 as it merges into the new organisation to lead the emerging GP Alliance. Dr Kajal Patel will lead the new locality and I am 
confident this is in safe hands. 
 
As with previous years, 2017-18 was challenging with both successes and areas  that still require improvement. As of 1 April 2017, our budget for the people of 
South Reading is just over £160m which includes the provision of primary care, delegated to the CCG to manage on behalf of NHS England. The function of 
clinical commissioning is to review the health needs of our local population and plan these services accordingly. This is done by reviewing evidence, both local 
and national and testing planned services together with the public. We work in collaboration with our partners, such as the local hospital, community services, 
the local authority and other GP practices to ensure the services delivered are right and that they are working well together. 
 
I reflect on the year, I can highlight the following achievements: 
 

• We have made progress against our plan to increase the early diagnosis and reduce emergency presentations of cancer. We have commissioned the 
charity Rushmoor Healthy Living, through funding from Macmillan to raise awareness of the signs and symptoms of cancer among our hard to reach 
population. Currently, 40 cancer ambassadors have been recruited to work within their community groups and highlight the importance of cancer 
screening. 

• We continue to make significant progress towards reducing the rates of active TB by increasing screening for latent TB among the ‘at risk’ population. 
Healthwatch Reading has surveyed over 300 people asking about their knowledge of TB  which we will build upon during 2018/19. 

• Surgeries participated in a ‘Teachable Moments’ programme to encourage lifestyle changes in people with negative cancer diagnoses following a two 
week wait referral. 

• Worked with Reading Borough Council to promote healthy lifestyles, in particular, decreasing inactivity and smoking rates. 



Page | 3  

• Supported the development of the new GP provider organisation, Reading Primary Care Alliance, which aims to build capacity, improve access and 
sustainability across our GP practices 

• Participated in specific diabetes related targets related to performance to optimise medications to improve outcomes 
• Reviewed the alcohol pathway locally to increase screening opportunities and reduce acute presentations for alcohol related conditions with 

recommendations for a community alcohol liaison nurse 
• Implemented a wellbeing service for Reading and supporting them to stay well by linking them into sources of support for the community via a Social 

Prescribing service 

We acknowledge, however, there is still room for improvement. The CCG has struggled to increase number of known hypertensives to 14,288 achieving 
12,826 by March 2018, which was a Quality Premium target. To date, we have not achieved the 67% dementia diagnosis target rate, having achieved 64.93%  
as of January 2018. We will continue to promote and monitor these targets through Council.  
 
Although South Reading CCG will no longer exist as a statutory body, we will continue to function actively as a locality working on behalf of our patients. We 
will continue to listen and work with our local stakeholders and  patient groups to improve the health and wellbeing of our population. 
 
Dr Bu Thava 
Chair 
NHS South Reading CCG 
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Performance Report 
Overview 

From the outset, the CCG has demonstrated a clear commitment to an open and transparent approach to conducting our business and therefore throughout 
this document where appropriate we will refer to documents that are already in the public domain, many having been received at one of our regular 
Governing Body meetings.  

These annual report and accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 
2006.  

Referrals within this document are generally to web based resources however if you are reading this in paper copy and require any of the documents to 
which we refer in paper copy please contact the CCG who will be happy to provide these for you: bwccg.enquiries@nhs.net. 

As a statutory organisation the CCG operates through its Constitution. The Members have agreed to work together as the South Reading CCG in accordance 
with its Constitution, and to work with the other CCGs in Berkshire West in a Federation in accordance with the terms of the Federation Agreement. 

Statement of Purpose and Activities 
As a Clinical Commissioning Group, we have the statutory responsibility to plan, commission and performance-manage a range of local health services for 
people in the South Reading area, including: 
 
• Urgent and emergency care (including NHS 111, Accident and Emergency, and ambulance services) 
• Out-of-hours primary medical services 
• Elective (Planned) hospital care 
• Community health services (such as rehabilitation services, speech and language therapy, wheelchair services, and home oxygen services) 
• Maternity and new-born services (excluding neonatal intensive care) 
• Children's healthcare services (mental and physical health) 
• Mental health services (including talking therapies) 
• NHS continuing healthcare 
• General practice (responsibility delegated by NHS England from April 2016) 
• Healthcare for veterans, reservists and armed forces families 

 

Who we are and how we work 
The CCG’s decisions are made by a governing body that meets every month. In 2017-2018 it consisted of 4 GP members, a Chief Officer, Strategy Director, 
Chief Finance Officer/Acting Chief Finance Officer, two lay members, the CCG’s Operations Director and a Secondary Care Consultant.  
 

mailto:bwccg.enquiries@nhs.net
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The Governing Body is elected by a GP Council, composed of GPs and practice managers from our 16 member GP practices. Day-to-day CCG management is 
led by an operational director supported by a CCG manager and an administrator.  

South Reading CCG works closely with partner CCGs in North and West Reading, Newbury and District and Wokingham as part of the Berkshire West 
federation of CCGs. The federation shares a team of senior managers and a Chief Officer. Functions such as communications and engagement, finance, 
procurement, human resources and information technology were provided by the South Central and West Commissioning Support Unit, although during the 
year, some services have been in-housed.  

Who we work with 

We commission healthcare from a wide variety of providers, working closely with the main acute services provider in the area, the Royal Berkshire NHS 
Foundation Trust, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (for community and mental health services) as well as a number of private and voluntary sector 
partners.  

From 1 April 2016, the CCG had fully delegated responsibility for the commissioning of Primary Care (GP Services). 

The CCG has formed an Accountable Care System (now known as Integrated Care System, ICS) with the other CCGs in Berkshire West, Royal Berkshire NHS 
Foundation Trust, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and GP providers. We are also part of the Berkshire, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire STP.  

We also work closely with our partners in Reading Borough Council, who commission social care services and are also responsible for public health. We are 
members of the Health and Well Being Board of the Council. 

Our population and demography 

The CCG covers part of Reading and the specific characteristics and health needs of our population are contained with the ‘Public Health Locality profile’. In 
October 2017, the registered patient population was 147,039 over ten wards. The key characteristics of our patient population are:  
 

• The 2011 census show that 30.5% of the resident population is from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) group. An additional 10.6% are from a White 
non-British background such as White Irish, Irish, Traveller, Gypsy or European.  

• A larger proportion of younger adults (aged 20-44) compared to the national average  
• High areas of deprivation with three wards in the 20% most deprived nationally  
• A lower life expectance rate than the national average for both men and women  
• The number of children aged 4-11 who are overweight and obese is higher than the national average  

 



Page | 6  

Better Care Fund 
Within Reading, since our first Better Care Fund Submission in 2014, we have embarked on a journey towards improved integration across Health and  Social 
Care.    Over the last 2 to 3 years, we have seen the successful introduction and implementation of schemes, both at scale, at a Berkshire West wide level, as 
well as more specifically within Reading.  Along the way we have recognised the importance of working more efficiently together  and sharing learning, with 
our geographical neighbours, whilst simultaneously driving forward opportunities to work more specifically to better meet the needs of our local Reading 
population.   

Our vision is now to build on that success, making more efficiencies and improvements to our local Discharge to Assess and Community Reablement 
schemes as well as graduating into new integration opportunities which will offer benefits in improving the experience and outcomes for people who require 
our support.  

By 2020 we would aim to see even more communities and agencies working together across Reading, as we widen our integrated approach to working more 
closely alongside our colleagues in primary care, housing, the police force and the fire service.  This will be borne out of our new schemes including those 
that focus on falls and frailty, high intensity users and street triage. Through our expanded working with wider stakeholders, other opportunities for 
integration will follow, allowing us to accelerate our integration journey further.  We aspire to replicate, where possible and appropriate, successful models 
adopted by our neighbours, with care delivered seamlessly, through a single point of contact that is ‘wrapped’ around people, across health, social care and 
the voluntary sector.   

Already we have seen rapidly forming clusters/alliances of GP practices in the Reading area which now offers us the opportunity to work towards better 
alignment of other services within the cluster areas. The people of Reading will be offered both preventative and proactive care when necessary that is 
holistic and timely. There will be a focus on the strengths and desired outcomes of the individual.  

We aim to avoid unnecessary admissions to hospital, minimise delays of transfer of their care, help support people make the right decision on future care 
needs, especially  after periods of illness and support them to remain as independent as possible for as long as possible in their own homes. There will be 
parity of esteem for all, with mental and physical health supported on an equal footing and our integrated model will aim to ensure we support people to 
self-manage, helping the person to utilise support networks within their own family and community.  

Performance against Better Care Fund metrics 

The key metrics within the Better Care Fund for 2017/18 are:  

Delayed transfers of care (DTOCs)  

The DToC target for 2017-18 was to have no more than 3.5% of beddays lost to delays across all beds in the system from September 2017. In real terms this 
meant that no more than 240 beddays should be lost per month for Reading residents. 

As of February 2018 the trajectory, which was always recognised to be challenging, has not been achieved but there has been a steady improvement in 
performance since October 2017 with 710 days lost during October, 661 in November, 493 in December, 435 in January and 413 in February. The figures of 
435  and 413 represents the lowest number of DTOCs recorded in the financial year to date and are the lowest reported numbers since April 2016. 
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From a Royal Berkshire Hospital perspective, only 675 days were lost to delays in February 2018, which is the lowest figure since December 2013. 

Non-elective admissions (NELs)  

Our target is to achieve a 3.5% downwards trajectory against our DTOCs. In real terms, this means that we have aspired to have no more than 240 bed days 
lost per month from September 2017 onwards (with no more than 477 in July 2017 and no more than 319 in August 2017). 

To date we have been unable to achieve the 3.5% trajectory. However, while performance exceeds the target, there has been a decline in DTOCs per month, 
with 710 days lost in October, 661 in November, 493 in December and 435 in January. The figures of 493 and 435 also represents the lowest number of 
DTOCs recorded in the financial year to date, and are the lowest reported numbers of DTOCs since April 2016 (in which 393 were reported). 

Admissions into residential care  

Our target is to have no more than 116 new residential admissions within the financial year 2017/2018. 

Based on our performance in the year to date which stands at 106 new residential admissions, we estimate that we will have 115 new placements across the 
financial year. 

Increase in Reablement (National Metric - 91 days at home after discharge  Target)  

Our target is to maintain an average of 88% of people remaining at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services and 
to see 1195 people engaging with reablement services (representing a 30% increase in the number of people accessing the service, compared to figures from 
2016/17, during which 919 used the service). 

Based on our performance to date, we have achieved an average of 91% of service users remaining at home 91 days after discharge from hospitals into our 
Community Reablement Service. We have also engaged with 1053 clients within our Community Reablement Service, with a predicted engagement rate of 
1149 by the close of the financial year. 

Wider Integration 

In line with the 7 Integration aims outlined above, we have spent part of 2017/2018: 

• Working at a Berkshire West 10 level to reduce avoidable hospital admissions & improve health in care homes. 
• Undertaking work that is targeted at frequent hospital attenders to reduce NELs. 
• Monitoring the performance of our reablement services, and examining methods of boosting capacity and improving performance – to maximise 

home-first-based reablement. 
• Funding and beginning to implement a ‘Connected Care’ system, to help ensure that people need only tell their story once.  
• Developing and implementing our locality High Impact Model action plan to minimise delayed transfers of care. 
• Beginning to look at ways of further integrating Health, Social Care and voluntary sector services (which will include an exploration of factors such as 

pooled budgets). We have made good progress to date against the use of Trusted Assessors and will shortly be looking at our success rates with 
completing carers assessments. We have also recently set up a working group that seeks to integrate GP clusters with social care partners.  
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• Maintaining the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) to support our work and ensure that people have the adaptations they need to live as independently 
as possible. We have recently received a ‘value for money’ report in respect of the DFG that we will be discussing at a future Reading Integration 
Board meeting. 
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Plan on a page 
Our Plan on a Page for 2017-2018, which is shared with the other CCGs in Berkshire West, is set out below along with our local plan which supports delivery. 
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South Reading CCG Local Plan 2017-19 
• Work with Reading Borough Council to promote healthy lifestyles/services particularly decreasing inactivity and smoking rates.  
• Continue to support the collaboration of GP practices through the South Reading Alliance and University practices cluster, to redesign workforce, to 

ensure sustainability and improve access.  
• Participate in diabetes related prescribing targets to optimise medications to improve outcomes for diabetic patients.  
• In partnership with Macmillan and Rushmoor Healthy Living, improve cancer awareness in the seldom heard population to improve outcomes for 

patients.  
• Increase number of known hypertensives to 14,288 by March 2018.  
• Reduce rates of active Tuberculosis by promoting the New Entrant Screening Service and raising awareness of Tuberculosis with target populations.  
• Implement ‘wellbeing’ service for Reading people, supporting them to stay well by linking patients to sources of support in the community. 
• Collaborative working between our GP member practices to create capacity in Primary Care. 

 
Working with Local Authorities 

The CCG has worked closely with the Local Authority and health and voluntary sector partners to support the delivery of the Reading Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. This sets out the areas of focus from2017 to 2020 to improve and protect Reading’s health and wellbeing, including plans to meet Care Act 
obligations to prevent, reduce and delay care and support needs.  The strategy sets out eight key priorities: 

• Supporting people to make healthy lifestyle choices (improving dental care, reducing obesity, increasing physical activity, reducing smoking); 
• Reducing loneliness and social isolation; 
• Promoting positive mental health and wellbeing in children and young people; 
• Reducing deaths by suicide; 
• Reducing the amount of alcohol people drink to safe levels; 
• Making Reading a place where people can live well with dementia; 
• Increasing uptake of breast and bowel screening and prevention services; 
• Reducing the number of people with tuberculosis. 

 

The CCG was a key contributor to the development of the strategy and contributes to priorities where they align with the need to improve health outcomes.   
Some of the ways that this has happened is by: 

• Providing support to smokers to quit.  The CCG routinely issues health promotion messages on quitting smoking and has set local targets to increase 
the number of patients referred by GPs into stop smoking services. 

• Reducing loneliness by commissioning of a Social Prescribing Scheme with Social Prescribers assisting people to feel supported, in control, socially 
connected, independent and able to self-manage health conditions and social needs.    

• Reducing the amount of alcohol people drink to safer levels by reviewing current alcohol pathways to ensure that the most appropriate services are 
available, promoting understanding of risks of using alcohol and providing training in primary care on management. 
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• Supporting GP practices to become dementia friendly and identifying dementia patients to ensure that appropriate support is available to them.  
• Increasing public /patient awareness of signs and symptoms of cancer and screening programmes. 
• Establishing arrangements to ensure screening for TB is undertaken when appropriate and raising awareness of TB and latent TB amongst residents.  

The CCG is a member of the Reading Health and Wellbeing Board which is a partnerships of the Local Commissioning Authorities, patient representatives and 
elected officials that can come together and take an overview of the health and social care system in the local area, with accountability to ensure the 
alignment of all health and social care commissioning activity.   

The Health and Wellbeing Board is consulted on the Integrated Care System and Sustainability and Transformation Plans with the Accountable Officer framing 
the discussions.  Dr Andy Ciecierski, Chair of North and West Reading CCG, is the Vice Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board. This joint working is a 
commitment for those who are resident in Reading and registered with a GP which is a constituent member of the CCG.  Dr Bu Thava is the CCG’s clinical lead 
Wellbeing Board. 

The CCG is a key partner in the Berkshire West 10 Programme of work which aims to deliver better integration of services by developing initiatives such as a 
single point of access ‘hub’, Joint Care providers, enhanced support to and anticipatory care planning in care homes, redesign of the pathway of support for 
the Frail Elderly and identification of key workers and development of the ability to share information across health and social care.  
 
Duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) 

NHS England requires the CCG to confirm that the Annual Report contains all the required statutory sections as dictated by the Health & Social Care Act 2012, 
specifically that the Annual Report should: 

(a) explain how the clinical commissioning group has discharged its duties under sections 14R (Duty to improve quality), 14T (Duty to reduce inequalities) and 
14Z2 (Duty to involve the public), and; 

(b) review the extent to which the group has contributed to the delivery of any joint health and wellbeing strategy to which it was required to have regard 
under section 116B(1)(b) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

We certify that the CCG has complied with the statutory duties laid down on the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).   

The CCG will continue to promote the NHS Constitution and ensure that local providers adhere to all NHS constitution measures and access standards to 
provide patients with care in a timely manner in the most appropriate setting (further details are available through the following link: NHS Rights and Pledges.   

The CCG in developing and implementing its operational plan has promoted or supported the NHS constitution, supported the role of NHS England in direct 
commissioning, encouraged patient choice, promoted education, innovation and training, and engaged with patients and carers and with stakeholders and 
partners.  As stated above the CCG is a member of the Reading Health and Wellbeing Board.. 

 

 
 

http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Pages/Yourrightstochoice.aspx
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Forward View 
2018/19 will see the four CCGs in the Berkshire West federation merging to become a single Berkshire West CCG. This merger has been supported by the 
majority of member GP practices across the four CCGs and local partners such as the three multi agency Health and Wellbeing Boards. The new CCG will 
maintain a strong locality focus, in recognition of the differing health needs across the area, and will maintain close working relationships with GP practices, 
local authorities, Healthwatch and other stakeholders.  

A key priority in 2017/18 was to develop the Berkshire West Integrated Care System (previously known as the Berkshire West Accountable Care System). This 
is made up of the four CCGs and two Foundation Trusts in Berkshire West and has been identified by NHS England as one of 10 exemplar systems in the 
country. Its overall aims are to: 
 
• Improve patient experience and outcomes 
• Achieve financial sustainability 

The ICS has signed a Memorandum of Understanding with NHS England, which sets out four key domains for which progress will need to be demonstrated in 
2018/19: 
 
• Delivering on the four priority areas in the Five Year Forward View - primary care, urgent care, mental health and cancer 
• Managing the system financial position 
• Acting as system leaders 
• Deploying a population health approach, and developing new models of care 

 
In particular, the ICS partners will work together to improve care pathways for patients and make efficiencies through projects to share back office functions, 
reduce running costs and make the best use of public sector estate. 

Despite the efficiencies identified, the financial challenge for the Berkshire West system remains significant, with a system shortfall of approximately £10m 
projected for 2018/19. As in previous years, and in common with the rest of the country, the underlying challenges for the system come from changing 
demographics in the patient population, particularly people living longer but with long term conditions, and people surviving what once might have been fatal 
conditions, but needing complex care to support them; recruitment of healthcare staff; finding the efficiencies needed to remain sustainable; and optimising 
the integration between health and social care bodies.  
 
In addition to our work in the local health and care system the new Berkshire West CCG will continue to contribute to the work programme of 
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West (BOB) Sustainability and Transformation Plan, which has agreed a need to focus on shared challenges where 
working at scale will have most impact, in particular workforce, digital and prevention .  
 
We also  remain firmly committed to strong partnership working with the three local authorities in our patch and in 2018/19 will continue to work together to 
integrate health and social care services and provide a more coordinated experience for people who use our services.  
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Financial Review 
NHS South Reading CCG met all of its statutory financial duties for 2017-2018.  The CCG received revenue resource allocations of £161.4m and delivered an in 
year surplus of £74k in line with the plan to breakeven.  The CCG has a cumulative surplus of £3,022k.  Although the CCG achieved the required breakeven 
position, the CCGs across Berkshire West had £3.5m of net risk which were reported to NHS from an early stage in the year and in months 11 and 12 resulted 
in the reporting of a deficit position.  As set out in the 2017/18 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 0.5% percent reserve uncommitted from 
the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for 
investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through 
other means.  In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 0.5% non-
recurrent monies to be spent.  Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS North and West Reading has released its 0.5% reserve to the bottom line.  
This has been one of the factors which has enable the CCG to recover from an in year deficit to surplus. 

The CCG also operated with the running cost allocation of £2.68m. 

NHSE provided specific wording to insert for 17/18 

The accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by NHS Commissioning Board under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) and specifically the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 c. 7 Schedule 2 s.17.  The full financial results are set out in our 2017-2018 accounts which form an integral part of this report. 

The diagram below provides a breakdown of how we use the funding that we receive:

Rebecca Clegg 
Acting Chief Finance Officer 
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Performance against Key Targets 
During 2017/18, the CCG performance for the Better Health and Better Care domains of the CCG assurance framework have been assessed as ‘good’ by NHS 
England. Berkshire West CCGs continue to have a strong focus on improving waiting times in cancer. We are keen to continue this momentum and make 
improvements in other areas of performance in 2018/19. 

The CCG works collaboratively with key providers, in particular our main provider of acute hospital services the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust, our 
main provider of mental health and community services  Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust that provides our 999, 111 and patient transport services.  We meet regularly in Clinical Quality Review Meetings, Contract Review Meetings and 
Performance Executive meetings where performance standards and associated action plans are reviewed and challenged.  These meetings provide the CCG 
with assurance of action being taken by providers to ensure performance achievement or where performance is not being achieved the remedial actions being 
implemented to achieve performance. 

The Governing Bodies receive and discuss monthly a Performance Report that explains achievement against all NHS constitutional standards and other 
outcome metrics.  
 

Performance Analysis 
 
Referral to Treatment Times (RTT) 

Time period 
NHS South Reading CCG - Incomplete RTT pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting 18 weeks or less from referral to 

hospital treatment 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Target >=92% 
2017-18 92.9% 92.6% 93.0% 93.1% 91.5% 91.7% 91.4% 91.3% 91.2% 91.1% 91.2% 91.4% 
2016-17 94.3% 95.1% 95.0% 94.4% 94.8% 94.3% 94.0% 93.8% 92.8% 92.2% 93.3% 92.6% 

 
 

Time period 
Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust - RTT wait over 52 weeks for incomplete pathway (yet to start treatment) 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2017-18 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2016-17 2 2 2 1 3 13 19 7 2 1 0 0 
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Cancer Wait Times 
Cancer wait times’ performance for the CCG and Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (lead provider) has achieved all standards for 2017-18, continuing from 
the exceptional improvement seen in 2016-17. The CCG has been working closely with the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (at operational and Executive 
level), and at Thames Valley Cancer Alliance le to ensure continued focus and improvement for cancer waiting times and this continues to be a high priority for 
the CCG. The approach to commissioning and delivering cancer services in the CCG in 2018/2019 continues to be delivered through the jointly agreed Berkshire 
West Cancer Framework.  
 

Time period 

Cancer Indicators (NHS South Reading CCG and Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust) 

2wks 
Cancer 
(E.B.6)  

2wks 
Breast 
Cancer 
(E.B.7) 

31 Days 
All Cancer 

(E.B.8) 

31 Days 
Subsequent 

Cancer-
Surgery 
(E.B.9) 

31 Days 
Subsequent 

Cancer-
Drug 

(E.B.10) 

31 Days 
Subsequent 

Cancer- 
Radiotherapy 

(E.B.11) 

62 Days 
All Urgent 

Cancer 
(E.B.12) 

62 Days 
Ref from 

NHS 
Screening 
(E.B.13)  

62 Days 
Consultant 

Decision 
to 

Upgrade 
Patient 
(E.B.14) 

Target 93% 93% 96% 94% 98% 94% 85% 90% No target 
RBFT 2017-18 95.6% 96.3% 97.8% 96.2% 99.6% 96.2% 86.2% 91.6% 85.7% 
Breaches 2017-18 736 78 51 17 3 47 172.5 13.5 4.5 

RBFT 2016-17 95.4% 97.1% 97.7% 94.5% 99.6% 96.5% 85.2% 87.1% 75.0% 
Breaches 2016-17 762 56 54 16 3 45 191 21 4.5 

CCG 2017-18 95.7% 97.6% 97.9% 95.7% 100.0% 99.3% 81.8% 94.3% 85.7% 
Breaches 2017-18 132 13 9 2 0 1 38 2 1 

CCG 2016-17 96.1% 97.1% 97.2% 98.4% 100.0% 98.7% 82.0% 83.3% 66.7% 
Breaches 2016-17 127 16 11 1 0 2 37 5 1 

 
Diagnostic Waits 
The national standard for diagnostic wait times below 6 weeks has been achieved on an annual basis for the CCG for 2017-18. There have been some individual 
months when the standard has not been achieved due to small numbers of breaches at Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust and other local provider trusts 
such as Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. This has not impacted YTD performance for the 
CCG. Royal Berkshire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has achieved the standard for the entire year except for the month of January. This was due to broken 
down MRI machine. 
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Time 
period 

NHS South Reading CCG - Diagnostic tests - the percentage of users waiting 6 weeks or more from referral for a diagnostic 
test 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Target <=1% 
2017-18 0.3% 0.4% 1.1% 0.5% 0.9% 1.3% 0.4% 0.8% 1.5% 1.6% 0.5% 0.6% 
2016-17 0.6% 0.7% 0.8% 0.4% 1.0% 0.9% 0.6% 0.2% 0.7% 1.0% 0.5% 0.6% 

 
 
A&E 4 hours 
A&E performance in 2017-18 has been challenging particularly during the latter half of the year. RBFT has struggled to maintain the national standard for A&E 
for majority of this year. The YTD performance for A&E is 90.58%. This is due to a number of factors such as increased demand, higher acuity of patients 
attending A&E and winter pressures. 
 
These are reviewed at the A&E Delivery Board which retains a firm focus on delivery and improvements in the system. The A&E Delivery Board is currently 
working on a suite of improvement initiatives that will continue to drive improved performance against this constitutional standard by delivering improved 
service provision in support of the principles of valuing patients’ time by providing a combination of care at home wherever possible, the avoidance of 
overnight stays by increasing ambulatory options and reducing time in hospital where hospital admission is needed. 
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Time period 
Thames Valley A&E Performance (2017-18) 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
National Standard >=95% 
RBFT 93.3% 90.1% 95.8% 95.6% 91.3% 90.5% 92.6% 89.1% 83.4% 85.8% 79.2% 83.1% 
OUHFT 88.8% 86.4% 82.8% 80.8% 84.8% 82.8% 82.1% 82.1% 80.7% 82.8% 81.1% 79.3% 
GWH 86.7% 91.9% 87.9% 87.9% 90.9% 87.3% 88.1% 86.1% 81.5% 84.8% 88.4% 85.0% 
FHFT 92.3% 90.2% 91.3% 91.5% 90.4% 90.7% 94.2% 91.4% 84.3% 83.6% 85.0% 83.1% 
BHT 90.8% 91.5% 91.5% 90.9% 86.1% 86.5% 86.3% 85.5% 82.5% 85.5% 85.9% 84.6% 
GHT 82.8% 80.0% 79.9% 83.5% 88.1% 86.1% 88.9% 95.3% 90.8% 89.8% 88.5% 86.9% 
RUH 88.4% 80.8% 90.3% 94.2% 90.4% 80.9% 89.9% 75.9% 76.9% 72.3% 74.4% 76.6% 
SFT 95.0% 93.1% 95.7% 95.7% 91.3% 91.7% 95.0% 95.1% 88.4% 86.6% 90.0% 89.8% 
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Dementia Diagnosis Rate 
The Dementia diagnosis rates from April 2017 to Dec 2018 have shown signs of improvement across the CCG with generally positive signs of an upward trend, 
which we hope will continue into 2018 and meet requirement of the National Dementia Diagnosis Standard of 67% in line with the Prime Ministers challenge 
for Dementia 2020. However, the CCG has not been able to achieve the national dementia diagnosis standard of 67% during 2016/17. This work and the work 
of all our partners who support people with Dementia, is overseen by the Berkshire Wide Dementia Steering group, chaired by the Berkshire West CCGs.  The 
provision of high quality post diagnostic care continues to be high priority. We provide a named GP for people with Dementia, and aim to refer of a patient to 
the Memory Clinic within six weeks of diagnosis. During 2017/18, we have reviewed the Memory Clinic Patient Pathway and identified how this can be 
delivered more efficiently.  

 
Time 

Period 
NHS South Reading CCG - Dementia Diagnosis Rates 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Target >=67% 
2017/18 65.2% 63.7% 63.8% 64.2% 65.2% 65.6% 65.6% 65.6% 65.2% 64.9% 64.9% 63.7% 
2016/17 67.2% 68.2% 68.4% 70.5% 72.0% 72.8% 72.9% 71.2% 71.9% 70.2% 71.9% 71.7% 

 
Healthcare-associated infections 
The CCG is above the nationally set objective (limit) for clostridium difficile, this is due to multiple occurrences in the same complex patients. There was no case 
identified for MRSA bacteraemia identified for the CCG in 2017/18. 
 

Time Period 
NHS South Reading CCG - Clostridium difficile (C. difficile) counts in patients aged 2 years and over 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Target 2 3 2 2 3 2 2 2 1 0 0 1 
2017/18 0 2 1 2 1 0 2 2 3 3 3 5 

 
Time 
Period 

NHS South Reading CCG - Clostridium difficile (C. difficile) counts in patients aged 2 years and over 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Target 2 3 2 2 3 2 2 2 1 0 0 1 
2017/18 0 2 1 2 1 0 2 2 3 3 0 0  
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Quality and Safeguarding 
 
Overview 
The CCG has a comprehensive Quality strategy in place, which was updated in 2017 and is further supported by a Quality Policy. Quality is at the heart of all 
we do. The NHS defines quality as effectiveness, safety and the provision of an excellent patient experience. Delivering compassionate, high quality care 
focused on outcomes is at the very heart of our clinical values and by establishing a shared understanding of quality and a commitment to place it at the 
centre of everything we do, the CCG has an important opportunity to continually improve and safeguard the quality of local NHS services for everyone, now 
and for the future. The Quality Strategy is available here.   
 
The CCG exercises this responsibility through the Quality Committee, where information and data is scrutinised and any issues with provider performance 
challenged. The Quality Committee reports monthly to the Governing Body, under the structure of the three domains of quality: 
 
• Patient experience (including complaints, Friends and Family Test, patient surveys and information from the NHS Choices website and provider data) 
• Patient safety (including serious incidents, falls, pressure damage, suicides and unexpected deaths and NHS Safety Thermometer information) 
• Clinical effectiveness (including provider compliance with national guidance NICE and National clinical audit) 

During 2017/18 there were  National  Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINs) schemes in place to incentivise joint working across the health 
economy to achieve the goal of improving quality through integrated working for the main providers, acute, community, mental health and ambulance. The 
team worked with the small contract holders and independent providers in order to establish the local CQUINs that would drive improvement for the patient 
population.   
 
The Integrated Quality and Performance Report (IQPR) for all the main providers has been utilised throughout 2017/18, where required additional indicators 
have been added and removed in order to provide up to date reporting.  The report continues to be inclusive of the independent sector and those providers 
where we are associate commissioners in order to provide assurance narrative regarding actions taken. This is monitored and scrutinised monthly with the 
provider in order to ensure patient safety and scrutinized monthly at Governing Bodies. 
 
The CCG has representation within a regional forum aimed to identify a comprehensive meaningful collection of community focussed indicators. These are 
currently under development, and will be included within the local IQPR once full stakeholder negotiation and agreement has been reached.  
 
Readiness for Quality Assurance as an integrated care system 
During 2017/18, we have developed an overarching Quality Framework to support continuous quality improvement as an Integrated Care System, with shared 
responsibility and accountability. This work has included the development of an ICS Integrated Quality and Performance Dashboard which will go live from 1st 
April 2018. 
 
Local implementation of National Guidance  

http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/media/1769/bwccgs-quality-strategy-2017-19.pdf
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The Quality Team has a robust process for reviewing any national publications or guidance and ensuring that there is local implementation as required.  An 
example of this would be the publication of National Guidance on Learning from Death – A Framework for NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts on 
identifying, Reporting, Investigating and Learning from Deaths in Care, National Quality Board, (March 2017) which resulted in the setting up of the STP 
mortality review group. More recently in September 2017, the formulation of a LeDeR steering group; a specific forum in which to review and scrutinise the 
care pathway leading up to the death of a person with learning disabilities, identifying any learning, again based on a national directive to drive improvements 
in care.  
 
Monitoring and Governance 
The CCG uses provider Clinical Quality Review Meetings to scrutinise and monitor full implementation of action plans from national guidance reviews, 
discussion includes any risk to implementation. The CCG Quality Committee subsequently has the responsibility on behalf of the Governing Body to monitor 
progress and ensure changes are embedded from these reviews, providing assurance to the Governing Body through a Chair’s report. In 2018/19, the CCG will 
move to an ICS Quality Committee as previously outlined, to fulfil our quality assurance and governance role. 
 
Quality Assurance Visits 
The Quality Team continue to carry out their programme of quality assurance visits to a variety of clinical and non-clinical areas across all services and 
providers during this past year. These visits are led by the Nurse Director and where possible, involve CCG lay members and members of the Board. These 
visits have allowed us to see first-hand the quality of care being delivered to our patients, allowed us to speak to patients, families and directly to staff. We 
feedback immediately to management on any findings, both positive and negative and provide a short report highlighting any recommendations to providers 
within 10 days of the visit. These reports are scrutinised through the Quality Committee and examples taken to Governing Body meetings. Through this work 
we will ensure that the patient remains at the centre and that a culture of openness, transparency and candour is promoted throughout the system.  
 
Partnership working 
The CCG is committed to working with all healthcare providers irrespective of contractual financial scope to ensure that our patients receive the best possible 
care within our local area, have a positive experience of healthcare and are treated safely. We will strive to continually improve the quality of the services and 
pathways we commission by both listening and responding to the views of our patients, carers and the extended community partners.  
This is furthermore illustrated by the current Care Homes project board and strategy group involving all stakeholders from the within CCG and Unitary 
Authority, provider organisations. These forums aid the triangulation of various information sources to ensure robust assurance is gained for our patients who 
reside in the care home setting or are in receipt of domiciliary care support services.   
 
Safeguarding 
As a public sector organisation the CCG has a statutory duty to make arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people and to 
protect vulnerable adults from abuse or the risk of abuse. We are committed to fulfilling this function to a high quality standard. Commissioning organisations 
also have a responsibility to ensure that all providers from whom we commission services (both public and independent sector) have comprehensive single 
and multi-agency policies and procedures to meet these requirements. We have ensured that systems and processes are in place to fulfil specific duties of co-
operation and that best practice is embedded. All contracts and service level agreements (SLAs) have required providers to adhere to Berkshire-wide 
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safeguarding policies and procedures which promote the welfare of adults and children and quality schedules within contracts have included key safeguarding 
metrics. Contracts have also required all providers to complete an annual audit based on section 11 of the Children Act (2004) (adapted to include 
safeguarding adults) and to provide assurance of compliance with required staff training and continuing professional development so that staff have an 
understanding of their roles and responsibilities in regards to safeguarding children, adults at risk, children looked after, the Mental Capacity Act and 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. The CCG has used contract levers to take action when provider performance is not meeting the standards required i.e. non-
compliance with safeguarding training, which has led to improvement with all of our provider organisations in 2017/18. Where training compliance has not 
been met, full scrutiny of a Trust remedial action plan and contractual mechanisms have been utilised in order to drive improvements regarding the statutory 
responsibility. Providers must inform commissioners of all incidents involving children and adults, including death or harm whilst in their care. 
 
In order to fulfil its responsibilities effectively the CCG operates within the legislative framework of the Children Act 1989/2004 and the Care Act 2014 in 
upholding the safeguarding of both children and adults. The CCG promotes the following general principles as set out in ‘Working Together to Safeguard 
Children’ HM Government 2015 which are: 
 
• ensure that all affected children receive appropriate and timely therapeutic and preventative interventions 
• professionals who work directly with children should ensure that safeguarding and promoting their welfare forms an integral part of all stages of care 

they offer 
• professionals who come into contact with children, parents and carers in the course of their work also need to be aware of their safeguarding 

responsibilities 
• ensure that all health professionals can recognise risk factors and contribute to reviews, enquiries and child protection plans, as well as planning support 

for children and providing ongoing promotional and preventative support through proactive work 
• Safeguarding children standards should be included in all clinical contracts. 

The CCGs’ Nurse Director has provided senior clinical leadership and oversight of safeguarding arrangements at Board level for both Adults and Children and is 
supported by the Head of Safeguarding Children and Head of Safeguarding Adults, who represent the CCG on the three Safeguarding Children Boards in 
Berkshire West and the Berkshire West Safeguarding Adults Board respectively. 
 
The CCG is fully committed to the Safeguarding Boards’ priorities and ensure that all our providers are fully engaged in working in partnership to deliver health 
elements of these priorities. 
 
The Head of Safeguarding Children incorporates the statutory function of the Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children role. The Head of Safeguarding Adults 
leads on the PREVENT agenda for the CCGs and provides consultation for both Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of liberty safeguards.  The Safeguarding 
Team is supported by dedicated administration, thus ensuring that communication, resource and expertise is available to lead this important agenda. 
 
The Designated Nurse for Looked After Children, fulfils the statutory function for the very vulnerable cohort of Looked After Children across the West of 
Berkshire and sits alongside the Safeguarding Team, supporting the role. 
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We are also committed to using this enhanced resource to support the improvement in safeguarding practice across primary care providers in Berkshire West 
supported by the Named GP function. 
 
Primary Care 
 
During 2017-18 the CCG? continued to discharge their delegated responsibilities within existing running costs, for the commissioning of primary care services 
through the Primary Care Commissioning Committee which is constituted in line with NHS England guidance and meets quarterly in public, reporting into the 
Governing Body and to the QIPP and Finance Committee in respect of investment decisions. 
 
In April 2017 NHS England published the GP Forward View (GPFV) and over the course of the year the Primary Care work programme and the priorities within 
it have been amended to reflect the Forward View ask. 
 
Key areas progressed in 2017-18 were as follows: 
 
• Care Models – this workstream primarily looks at the future sustainability of the local primary care sector. 4 GP Alliances have been formed in Berkshire 

West where GP practices have come together to form clusters of 30,000 to 50,000 patients to support sustainability through collaboration and 
transformation of service delivery. The GP Alliances interface with the Berkshire West ICS through and over-arching Alliance of Alliance structure. 

• Access – the CCGs are committed to providing good access to primary care services and are working towards the provision of same day and bookable 
appointments for patients in the evenings and at weekends through. 

• Workforce – Practices are expanding the range of clinical staff working within their surgeries. These include paramedics, pharmacists, mental health 
therapists and physician associates. GPs are actively being recruited from overseas for areas that are challenged by GP recruitment and retention. 

• Workload – the CCGs is looking at ways  to support practices to manage their workloads more efficiently and effectively. This includes the 
implementation this year of the optimisation of document management, the introduction of online consultation and maximising the use of technology 
to support self-care. 

• Quality and Contracting – this year the CCGs continue to fulfil their statutory duty to commission primary care services for their populations. They have 
also developed a framework for improving the quality of primary care services which is monitored via the Primary Care Commissioning Committee and 
the Quality Committee. 

• Infrastructure – investment in the up grading of primary care facilities has continued this year. Additionally the CCGs are developing estates strategies 
for the future primary care premises requirements taking account of  population growth from housing developments and infrastructure that is required 
to underpin the above new care models. 
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Urgent Care 
 
The A&E 4 hour standard remains one of the key measures of success for the urgent and emergency care system and Berkshire West is proud to be achieving 
over 90% performance year to date at the time of writing. This achievement reflects a whole system partnership and delivery of a suite of improvement 
initiatives based on the principles of valuing patients’ time by providing; 
 
• care at home wherever possible 
• the avoidance of overnight stays by increasing ambulatory options and 
• reducing time in hospital where hospital admission is needed.  

 
In September 2017 the new Thames Valley Integrated Urgent Care (TVIUC) service successfully launched. The new service (provided by an Alliance led by 
South Central Ambulance Service Trust) is an enhancement to the previous 111 call handling service with a range of specialist clinicians including GPs, Mental 
Health practitioners, nurses, prescribing pharmacists and dental professionals able to take calls and provide specialist advice. Initial data shows that the 
percentage of calls able to be dealt with directly by the service without onward referral to another service has increased by 4.4% and this is expected to 
increase further as we expand the number of clinicians working with the service. 
 
Primary Care streaming at the RBFT emergency department (ED) was launched in October 2017. The service, which is being run as a six month pilot, identifies 
and manages  patients arriving at ED who are able to be treated by a Primary Care physician or nurse. The model of operation is under review as the numbers 
being streamed to the service are lower than anticipated. 
 
In 2017 the RBFT Service Navigation Team and the BHFT Integrated Discharge Team were combined to form a new Integrated Discharge service (Getting 
Home) under a single manager. The new team provide a single point of contact for patients who need onward care after leaving hospital and are working 
closely with Adult Social Care colleagues to support a seamless move to out of hospital services. 
 
The ICS continued to work with South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) in 2018/19 to reduce the number of people being taken to hospital. SCAS are working 
to: 
• Increase the number of clinicians available to assess caller’s needs 
• enable a broader range of specialists to help by connecting remotely and over the telephone 
• improve access to patients own records. 

 
In 2017-18 the CCGs continued to fund the paramedics working within the ‘First Stop Service’. This is a night time urgent care, health and wellbeing service 
operating at week-ends in St Mary’s Church, Reading. The service prevents vulnerable patients having to be taken to ED by caring for them on-site and 
supports an improvement in ambulance response times as ambulances are no longer conveying these patients to hospital. Over a 12 month period 339 
patients have been seen by the service and it is estimated that 84%)of these would have required a trip to A&E if the service was not in place. 
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Ambulance response times 
In 2017/18 ambulance response times were affected by workforce pressures due to difficulties in recruiting to paramedic posts sickness amongst staff and 
increased demand and higher acuity of patients especially during the winter months. South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SCAS) 
developed a remedial action plan and trajectory for improvement and are on course to achieving this. 

The Trust implemented the recommendations of the national work stream regarding Ambulance Response (Ambulance Response Programme) in October 
2017.  The aim of the change is to prioritise the sickest patients, to ensure they receive the fastest response; drive clinically and operationally efficient 
behaviours, so the patient gets the response they need first time and in a clinically appropriate timeframe and putting an end to unacceptably long waits by 
ensuring that resources are distributed more equitably amongst all patients.   

 

Transforming care 
 
Learning disability 
The Transforming Care Programme Board comprises 14 Health and Social Care partners across the county who have a shared vision and commitment to 
support the implementation of the national service model for children, young people and adults with learning disabilities and/or autism, who have behaviour 
that challenges and may or may not have mental health issues and may have come into contact with the criminal justice system. The model requires 
integration and collaboration by commissioners, providers and other sectors to enable this cohort of people to lead meaningful lives through tailored care 
plans that meet individual needs. 
This reflects the national Transforming Care Partnerships (TCPs) that CCGs and STPs are expected to deliver.     
 
We have achieved the following in line with the national programme. 
 
The Berkshire Transforming Care Plan has 4 key aims: 
 

1. More care in the community, with personalised support provided by multi disciplinary health and care teams 
2. More innovative services to give people a range of care options, with personal budgets, so that care meets individuals needs 
3. Early, more intensive support for those who need it, so that people can stay in the community, close to home 
4. Inpatient care, but only as long as is needed and is necessary 

To achieve those aims the TCP Board has established a programme and governance structure built around a number of work streams, with children and young 
people and those in transition being a core component of each. 
 
There are 7 work streams:- 
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1. Joint commissioning and integration – aligning financial processes, explore joint commissioning, jointly managing the market 
2. Communication and engagement – stakeholder identification, creation of communications plan, effective communication and engagement 
3. Workforce development and culture – cultural audit, workforce development programmes for staff, creating a cultural change programme 
4. Children and young people – engaging services, developing new joint ways of working and person led plans 
5. Autism – engaging with service users, including people in developments, enhancing support  
6. Service reconfiguration – deliver intensive support team service, reducing reliance on bed based care, growing housing and support services, developing 

meaningful day accommodation and employment opportunities, enhance services to meet needs of children and young people in transistion, further 
support for people with autism 

7. Risk management – shared financial, quality, relational risk plan, mitigate risks through a programme management approach 

 
We have continued to reduce inappropriate hospitalisation of people with a learning disability, autism or both, so that the number in hospital reduces at a 
national aggregate level by 35% to 50% from March 2015 by March 2019. There are continuous efforts to move people out of long stay hospitals into 
appropriate community settings.  The TCP Board has set a plan to reduce Berkshire East and West CCGs commissioned in-patient beds to 10-15 beds per 
million population by the end of 2018/19, and is on track to reduce CCG and NHS England commissioned bed capacity from 44 to 28 within the time line and a 
new service model has been created that incorporates Positive Behavioural Support and increased level of community based provision as an alternative to 
admission.  
 
We have continued to improve access to healthcare for people with a learning disability, so that the number of people receiving an annual health check from 
their GP is 64% higher than in 2016/17. The Programme Board is working in partnership with GP practices to ensure that reasonable adjustments are made to 
enhance access for annual health checks.  GP practices are encouraged to ensure that the right coding is used to ensure that people have timely access to 
annual health checks.  We are presently on track to meet this target.  
 
We have made further investment in community teams to avoid hospitalisation.  Berkshire West has developed an intensive support team, the remit of this 
team has been developed to ensure that people are supported in the community to manage risks and avoid hospital admissions.    We are working closely with 
our provider to continue the development of this team.  
 
We have ensured more children with a learning disability, autism or both get a Community Care, Education and Treatment Review (CETR) to consider other 
options before they are admitted to hospital.   We are continuing to work with our provider on this to ensure that the earliest intervention point is realised to 
gain better outcomes for our children.   We are also working with NHS England on developing joint CETR for cohorts that are currently in tier 4 provision.   
 
We continue to develop the work on tackling premature mortality by supporting the review of deaths of patients with learning disabilities, as outlined in the 
National Quality Board 2017 guidance.   NHS Berkshire West CCGs have implemented the LeDer progamme that oversees the review of all deaths and have 
appointed reviewers. 
The current programme will continue in 2018/19  
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Mental health 
 
Children and adolescents mental health 
 
Improving access to emotional health and wellbeing services for children and young people in accordance with the recommendations of the NHS Future in 
Mind report (2015) continues to be a priority. Local transformation work continues in partnership with healthcare providers, local authorities, the voluntary 
sector, schools and service users. The Children’s Commissioner for England, Anne Longfield, visited Berkshire West and cited our work as good practice in her 
written evidence to the Commons Health Select Committee on emotional health and wellbeing of children in the autumn 2017. This has gone on to shape the 
recent Green Paper on transforming children’s mental health. 
• School based services have expanded with a focus on training and developing the knowledge and skills of school staff so that resilience is promoted, 

children who are identified as having emotional needs access help earlier, the quality and accuracy of referrals to CAMHs improve and fewer children 
require specialist interventions.  

• GPs, practice staff, social care staff, and the voluntary sector have accessed training in identifying and supporting children and young people with 
emotional health and wellbeing issues. Training these groups continues to be a focus for 2018. 

• The Little Blue Book of Sunshine was developed and distributed to young people across Berkshire prior to the summer 2017 public examination period. 
A social media and street advertising campaign ran #littlebluebookofsunshine. The booklets have received national acclaim. 

• The CCG supported an event for World Mental Health Day at the Madejski Reading FC stadium, attended by hundreds of school children and University 
students, to break taboos and raise awareness 

• We are working with the University of Reading to roll out a new lower intensity treatment for children with anxiety. 
• Services have been re-modelled to reduce risk and crisis presentations. A CAMHs urgent care rapid response service has been commissioned. Based at 

Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust, but also providing help in the community, the service provides wrap around care to the most vulnerable young 
people. The number of admissions to paediatric wards, the Place of Safety and Tier 4 has reduced. Partners and young people report improvements in 
the quality and consistency of care. Multiagency work is underway to understand, and better meet the needs of young people who repeatedly present 
in crisis. 

• Families whose children may have autism or ADHD continue to access help through services commissioned from the voluntary sector. System work is 
underway in each Local Authority area to improve join up between agencies who provide services for children with autism and ADHD. This is also part of 
the SEND work.  

• Health services to the youth justice system have been reviewed and a new integrated service has been commissioned to improve services, 
accountability and outcome monitoring. This links with the all age Liaison and Diversion service.  

• The Berkshire wide CAMHs Community Eating Disorders service is fully staffed.  
• Data quality on the number of children and young people who access emotional health and wellbeing support remains an issue nationally. Berkshire 

Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (BHFT) and a number of non NHS organisations are working with NHSE to improve reporting. The CCG monitors the 
impact and quality of commissioned services through a provider  outcome reporting framework. 
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Special educational needs and disability (SEND)  
The CCG has improved joint arrangements with the Local Authorities for meeting the health needs of children and young people with Special Educational 
Needs and Disability in accordance with the Children and Families Act. The CCG Designated Clinical Officer coordinates a health SEND self-assessment in 
partnership with BHFT and RBFT annually. A health action plan is in place which dovetails with the action plans in each of the 3 Local Authorities. This work 
aligns with the Transforming Care and Future In Mind agendas. 
 
Work has focused on having a better understanding of the changing profile and needs of our SEND population in partnership with Local Authorities to ensure 
that the right services are commissioned in the right areas, reducing the need for pupils to be placed out of area where possible. Quality assurance of services 
provided is also an area of focus, as is streamlining administrative procedures where possible, so that families do not have to tell their story so many times. 
 
We are working with Local Authorities, schools and parent forums to make the provision of specialist equipment for children with disabilities simpler and more 
cost effective through greater use of the joint equipment store. This initiative will also increase the amount of equipment that can be recycled and reissued. 
 
A review of the wider Children's Specialist Nursing offer, including the Children's Community Nursing service and the Special School Nursing Service is 
underway with the aim of offering a more seamless and sustainable service for children and families. 
 
Integrating children’s health services  
The Together For Child Health Group is now well established to identify opportunities to promote good system working between hospital and community 
settings. Currently there is a focus on reducing avoidable hospital activity in A and E and out patients by providing alternative services. 
 
A single Children, Young People and Families (CYPF) service has been commissioned  to improve person and family centred working andenable families to get 
the help they need more swiftly. Online support for families has been developed along with an enhanced Children’s Toolkit which provides advice to families.  
 
Looked-after children  
Ensuring that the health needs of looked-after children are assessed and met in a timely manner continues to be a focus. We are working with partners to 
improve our whole system emotional health and wellbeing offer to Looked After Children 
 
Adult mental health 
 
The CCG has made good process with the implementation of the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health establishing services that are sustainable for the 
long-term which has improve access to mental health services for all ages, develop community services taking pressure off inpatient settings, and providing 
people with holistic care. This includes ensuring delivery of the mental health access standards for Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT), Early 
Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) and eating disorders. 
 
Our performance against the national IAPT access, recovery and waiting time standards has been consistently strong.  We are committed to further 
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improving access to psychological therapies for people experiencing anxiety and or depression regardless of cause (i.e. physical and or mental health 
problems) by commissioning an integrated service. We are supporting the use of technology and exploring alternative ways of delivering the service which 
facilitate easier access, are more flexible and ensure high quality outcomes. 
 
As well as achieving the access and recovery targets in 2017-18 the CCGs set up a Long Terms Condition (LTC) pilot to integrate psychological care for anxiety 
and depression with physical health care and offer support for people with long term conditions, frequent attenders and those with health anxieties.  
 
The pilot developed pathways within primary care for COPD and Diabetes with therapists based in GP surgeries.  
 
An online module for psychological intervention for LTCs, complementing the existing online offers for anxiety and depression was also commissioned.  
 
In 2017-18 there was a focus on recruiting additional trained staff and trainees to be PWPs (psychological well-being practitioners) and high intensity 
therapists. Staff received bespoke Health Education East of England (HEE) Continuing Professional Development (CPD) training to move across to form a new 
‘integrated team’. 
 
Physical Health Check and Care co-ordination 
For patients with severe mental illness in secondary care, we have continued to meet the Physical Health Checks target of 60% within in inpatient settings 
through the mental health CQUIN and 42% in community mental health teams.  
 
Early Intervention in Psychosis 
The CCGs have been working collaboratively with Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (BHFT) to ensure services commissioned to provide Early 
Intervention in Psychosis are, as a minimum, NICE compliant, meeting the national standards for access and treatment. 
A self-assessment was carried out by The Royal College of Psychiatrists College Centre for Quality Improvement (CCQI) and a grade of level 2 was received. 
We have been performing well against the new waiting time standards which require 50% of patients experiencing a first episode of psychosis to commence 
treatment within two weeks of referral.  
 
Psychiatric Liaison service 
The CCG has  commissioned a Core 24 hour led psychiatric liaison service which is based in the local acute hospital (Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust); this 
has had a positive impact on the quality and responsiveness of services to people who attend the Emergency Department. 
The mental health liaison team routinely responds to referrals within 1 hour in emergency departments and within 24 hours following referral from wards.  
 
Individual Placement and Support services (IPS) 
A successful bid has been made to expand the current IPS employment model which is internationally recognised as the most effective way to support 
people with mental health problems and/or addictions to gain and keep paid employment.  
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Reducing suicide rates 
The  national target is to reduce suicide rates by 10% by 2020/21 against the 2016/17 baseline.  
A partnership Berkshire Wide Suicide prevention strategy has been developed and was approved by all six Berkshire Local Authority Health and Wellbeing 
boards in October 2017. 
 
Perinatal Mental Health 
We are in the process of developing a specialist community perinatal mental health service provided by Berkshire Healthcare Trust.  We are currently in wave 
one after a successful bid to NHS England to develop these services. Over the next 3 years this funding will be utilised to ensure all elements of the perinatal 
5YFV targets are met. 
 
Our work is focused on: expansion of services; piloting peer support; enhanced medication advice &psychological input for traumatic births.  
 
A Maternal Well Being on SHaRON (Support Hope and recovery) online network is now live. This is a secure, anonymous and moderated face-book type site 
for women during the perinatal period across the range of emotional disorders and distress.  
A pilot has commenced which offers both individual and group work to women with birth trauma and the referral numbers have exceeded those anticipated.  
 
 
Eliminating out of area placements for non-specialist acute care 
The CCGs are committed to ensuring that by 2020/21 no service users requiring non-specialist acute care receive their treatment in an out of area placement 
setting (OAPs) and plan to reduce them by 33% in 2018/19.  
 
We have worked in partnership with BHFT and the Councils to develop a process to regularly monitor requests for out of area placements, the application of 
the Care Programme Approach (CPA) and progress towards repatriating people placed out of area  
A bed optimisation programme is now in place to reduce avoidable admissions, reduce length of stay and out of area placements for non-specialist acute 
care. Good progress has been made with staff within the local inpatient service, which benchmarks as lower than average bed numbers for the local 
population.  
 

Sustainability 
 

The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable development indicators. 

The CCG continues to develop plans to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce our impact, including against carbon reduction, waste management 
and climate change adaptation objectives.  This includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across policy 
development, business planning and in commissioning.  The CCG has a sustainability strategy. 

The CCG has increased its use of teleconferences and has promoted the use of public transport, cycling and/or walking to work to reduce the negative impact 
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of transport on the environment and promote a healthy lifestyle. 3,203 business miles were claimed during the year. 

The CCG operates an effective recycling system as part of its approach to waste management and has increased the use of mobile technology to reduce its use 
of paper, ink and electricity. 

We will ensure the clinical commissioning group complies with its obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, including the Adaptation Reporting power, 
and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. 

 

Patient and Public Involvement 
Under section 14Z2 of the Health and Social Care Act 2006, CCGs are asked to make arrangements for how they will involve patients and the public in 
commissioning planning, decision making and changes to proposals and plans that will impact upon individuals or groups and how health services are provided 
to them. 
The CCG follows the Patient and Public Participation Policy, and accompanying statement of arrangements and guidance, both published by NHS England. A 
Berkshire West Communications and Engagement strategy is in place for 2014-2019 which sets out the local approach to patient and public involvement. From 
this, and the objectives set out in the annual operational plan, annual communication and engagement activity plans are established for the CCG.  
Activities are reported and reviewed in a number of fora. These include: quarterly Clinical Commissioning Committee, lay member reports to CCG governing 
body meetings in public, and patient and public reference groups. The latter group membership includes representation from local patient participation 
groups, Healthwatch and health and social sector partners.  
 
Involvement aims and activity 
Our aims for patient and public involvement are to: 
 
• Put patients at the heart of everything we do 
• Listen to and involve people when planning, evaluating and seeking to improve services 
• Put in place coherent structures and accountability for patient and public involvement 
• Encourage the development of local patient reference groups 
• Ensure that involvement includes those from seldom heard groups 
• Share and build on best practice. 

This is done through activity including: 
 
• Holding meetings in public to seek views on our strategy and commissioning plans 
• Sharing proposed information to patient groups to ensure it is appropriate and understandable 
• Asking people for their views about local services through surveys, both online and otherwise 
• Involving patient experts in commissioning projects to provide assurance that our plans are robust 
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• Developing our database of patients to ensure our online consultations and engagement is representative of communities we represent 
• Demonstrating how patient feedback has made a difference 

Key activity this year has included: 
 
• Agreeing to fund a Healthwatch post to channel communications between the three local Healthwatches and the ICS, and to provide expert advice on 

effective patient engagement and involvement across the Berkshire West system 
• Listening to the views of over 750 members of the public through a public consultation on changes to our prescription policy, in relation to over the 

counter medicines and gluten free food, and, in response to this, working with Healthwatch and Coeliac UK to ensure information was provided in an 
appropriate and timely manner to help patients make adjustments. 

• Putting patients at the heart of the redesign of Musculoskeletal Services , from attendance at the earliest  workshop  to strong representation 
throughout the design phase. In recognition of the value of this participation, a patient lead role was then included in the overall governance structure 
and a patient lead now sits on the board of the new service. 

• Establishing a patient group to inform the development of the Connected Care programme through giving views on a proposed ‘patient portal’ and its 
value to patients. The group also includes members of Healthwatch, the Parkinson’s Society and local Patient Participation Groups. 

• Supporting Patient Participation Groups in each GP practice as fora to discuss the services on offer and how improvements can be made for the benefits 
of patients and the practice. 

• Supporting patients, carers and their families to have their voices heard in relation to their individual experiences of care via the Patient Advice and 
Liaison Team, and using this to improve the quality of services. 

• Commissioning a survey to understand differing levels of knowledge of latent tuberculosis across diverse South Reading communities and raising 
awareness via events such as a health and wellbeing week at Royal Berkshire Hospital; a Compass Recovery College Prospectus Launch event; a New 
Directions event and Older People’s Day event; the University of Reading Freshers’ Fayre. 

 
Patient Voice Group 
The CCG has a Patient Participation Group Forum that champions patient and public involvement. The group meets monthly and ensures that the CCG is 
including patients’ views in their plans and that local factors such as demographics and accessibility to healthcare services is taken into account. 
 
Work with seldom heard communities 
South Reading ‘Cancer Champions’ in training 
Nearly 40 community volunteers have been recruited to train as Macmillan Cancer Champions as part of a project looking to address inequalities in cancer 
care by encouraging those from Reading’s seldom heard communities to use the cancer services that are available to them, which it is hoped will ultimately 
start to improve local cancer survival rates.  
Once training is complete, the volunteers will be certified as ‘Cancer Champions’ by Macmillan Cancer Support. Since April 2017 the project has engaged with 
over 35 different groups and nearly 1,000 people in the following communities: 
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• The Greater Nepalese Community 
• The Reading Polish community 
• The Reading Deaf Community 
• Support U LGBT Group 
• The Older People’s Working Group 
• The Reading elderly Indian community 
• Reading Pakistan women community 
• Various mixed African origin groups 

South Reading CCG Homeless project 
A Homeless project group is in place to investigate Homeless health needs. The findings of the Homeless Health Needs Audit were reviewed  over a number of 
locations, such as Launchpad, CIRDIC and Berkshire Women’s Aid. 150 people were surveyed ranging from 18-24 (25 people) to over 65 (3 people). The details 
of the survey are being analysed and outputs are being evaluated. Specific actions will be taken forward into next year once analysis is complete and outputs 
identified. 
 
Berkshire Health Network 
We have continued to maintain the Berkshire Health Network, a database of people who have expressed an interest in voicing their opinion when we are 
thinking about changes to our services.  They can participate by receiving bulletins with local health news and invitations to local healthcare engagement 
events. They can also take part in surveys and other online engagement on our plans and proposals. They can also be targeted where they have specialist 
interest and/or knowledge. In 2017/18 we had in excess of 800 Health Network members. 
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Reducing health inequality 
 
Our role as a CCG is to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing the services we commission. To reduce health inequality and improve 
outcomes for all, we work with colleagues in the local public health team as they provide us with a source of expertise in using health related data sets 
to inform commissioning, reduce inappropriate variation in the local area, identify vulnerable populations and marginalised groups, and support 
commissioning to meet their needs.  
 
To help us respond to health inequalities in the population, we carried out equality impact assessments on changes we make to services.  We also 
review the uptake of services to ensure they are accessible to all and link in with public health colleagues for advice on steps to take when health 
inequalities are identified.  
 
Our work to reduce health inequalities is reviewed by the local Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 
The CCG is committed to embedding equality and diversity values into its policies, procedures, employment and commissioning processes, to ensure that 
there is equality of access and treatment for all, and that health inequalities are reduced.  
 
As required by the Equality Act 2010, the CCG has this year published an annual report showing how they have met the Public Sector Equality Duty and paid 
due regard to the needs of people with different protected characteristics. This incorporates the Equality Delivery System Evidence and Grading Report. 
 
The CCG is committed to the principles of the Workforce Race Equality Standard, and action to encourage progress includes:  
• Supporting provider organisations, through inclusion in contract of requirement to implement WRES and provide an annual report, and monitoring through 

regular quality assurance visits and contract review.  
• Demonstrating leadership within the CCG by:  
• ensuring robust systems for collecting, challenging and analysing workforce data  
• reviewing workforce data at relevant committees  
• running an annual staff survey to address underreporting of ethnicity, allow comparison of staff experiences between white and BME staff, and identify 

areas of concern  
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The CCG is part of the Thames Valley Inclusion Network, which supports those with a role and responsibility for inclusion and diversity across the system to 
work together, exchange information and good practice, and support each other in the implementation of the Equality Delivery System, the Workforce Race 
Equality Standard and the Accessible Information Standard across the area.  
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CCG employees 
The CCG employs fewer than 150 employees and is therefore not required to publish information on employees. However, it reviews how well recruitment 
and selection processes work to reduce conscious or unconscious bias against characteristics protected by diversity legislation.  

The CCG has established a staff forum to provide a regular and effective means of joint discussion between senior management and staff on issues of mutual 
interest or concern, and to foster maximum involvement of all partners in effective communications, engagement and consultation on working practices and 
employment.  

The CCG is a member of the Thames Valley Inclusion Network, designed for local NHS bodies to share learning and experiences and support each other to 
address barriers to inclusion at all levels in our workforces.  

The CCG has developed an integrated approach to delivering workforce equality so it does not have a separate policy for disabled employees or for any other 
protected characteristics but it has incorporated equalities issues in policies covering all aspects of employee management ranging from recruitment to 
performance discipline. Our aim is to operate in ways which do not discriminate our potential or current employees with any of protected characteristics 
specified in the Equality Act 2010 and to support our employees to maximise their performance including making any reasonable adjustments that may be 
required on a case by case basis.  

Gender distribution 
South Reading 

Governing Body Members 9 female, 3 male 

Staff 2 female, 0 male 

The names of Governing Body members, council of practice members and CCG management staff, including very senior managers (VSMs) are given in the 
Members report. 

HR Policies 
The CCG has a range of HR policies in place that are approved by the Governing Body, in relation to employees and cover social community and human rights 
issues. 

Cathy Winfield, Chief Officer, 24 May 2018
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Members’ report  

The Chair of Council during 2017/18 was Dr Aparna Balaji. 

The CCG’s Council of Practices continues to meet on a monthly basis (with the exception of May and August) and is well attended by 
GP representatives across the CCG, plus observers on request. Attendance is noted via a sign in sheet and apologies duly noted. 
Standing agenda items include declarations of interest, Chair’s update and a feedback session where practices can discuss issues they 
are experiencing, both clinical or business items and how these can be addressed. The feedback includes specific time for GP, nurse 
and practice managers.  

There are regular updates to Council on our primary care strategy particularly the impact and opportunity for our emerging Alliance 
and hub model, plus updates on primary care commissioning.  

There is a steady stream of requests from service leads and other clinicians to speak to GPs at Council. The last year has seen a rich and diverse range of 
speakers covering both clinical and non-clinical topics such as: clinical concerns process, Community Education Provider Network (CPEN) update, Anticipatory 
Care CES, Care Homes, Prescribing Quality Scheme, National Diabetes Audit collection, Time to Care programme, MSK services, 0-19 nursing service, 
safeguarding, social prescribing, high intensity users project, community ophthalmology provider, infection control and cancer update.  

Council continues to be the main forum for updating GPs on the business of the CCG along with the weekly briefing which is circulated to all practice staff. 

Dr Aparna Balaji  
Chair, NHS South Reading Commissioning Group Council of Member Practices 
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The Accountability Report 
Directors Report 
Details of Membership Body and the Governing Body 
 The CCG’s member practices and their representatives are given below: 

Practice Representative Sex 
Abbey Medical Centre Dr Adunola Oyebata Female 
Chatham Street Surgery  Dr Avas Asghar  Male  
Eldon Road Surgery  Dr Jose Mathew  Male  
Grovelands Medical Centre  Dr Ignacia Escamilla  Male  
Kennet Surgery  Dr Aman Bindra  Male  
London Street Surgery  Dr Najat Essa  Male  
Longbarn Lane Surgery  Dr Syed Khader  Male  
Melrose Surgery Dr Aparna Balaji (Chair of Council)  Male  
Milman Road Health Centre,                  Dr Rab  Mittal  
Pembroke Surgery  Dr Gerard d’Cruz  Male  
Reading Walk-in Health Centre  Dr Mehdi Fard  Male  
79 Russell Street Surgery  Dr Manohar Swami  Male  
South Reading Surgery and 
Shinfield Medical Practice  

Dr Neena Grover  Female  

Tilehurst Village Surgery  Dr Trevor Underwood  Male  
University of Reading Medical 
Practice  

Dr Emma Cheetham  Female  

Westwood Road Practice  Dr Caverna Tiwari  Female  
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The Governing body:  
The Governing Body is made up of: 
• Clinical staff elected to the Governing Body by member GP practices 
• Nurse Director and Hospital Consultant 
• Two Lay Members – members of the public 
• Executive Officers 

 
Governing Body Members 
 
Dr Bu Thava 
Dr Thava is a GP at Milman Road. Prior to this he has been a GP at the Reading Walk-in Health Centre and Pembroke Surgery. Bu completed his medical 
training at the University of London in 2004 and then moved to the Oxford Deanery to complete his GP training. As part of this he has worked at the Royal 
Berkshire Hospital in various posts, including paediatrics, obstetrics and emergency medicine. This varied role has provided him with a unique perspective of 
both primary and secondary care as well as the diverse needs of the local population. He brings this experience and skill set with him to the South Reading 
CCG Board, where he is the Urgent Care Lead and became Chair in October 2016. He is also Primary Care Lead in South Reading and is involved in the IT 
developments in primary care. 

Sabrina Chetcuti 
Saby is the Lay Member for Governance and Vice Chair for South Reading CCG. A biochemistry graduate with some postgraduate research experience, Saby 
has spent more than 30 years applying her background within international healthcare device and equipment manufacturing organisations and has extensive 
experience in market strategy and business management. Saby has worked as an NHS Board member since 2007 both as Non-Executive Director for Berkshire 
West PCT and recently as Lay member for South Reading. Her subcommittee work includes Audit, Remuneration Committee and is the appointed partner 
governor for the South Central Ambulance Service. 
 
Wendy Bower 
Wendy began her career as a nurse over 30 years ago and has worked in London and Acute hospitals across Berkshire and Surrey. She was a senior lecturer for 
Critical Care Nursing with Thames Valley University mainly teaching registered nurses in Intensive Care, Coronary Care and Accident and Emergency in order 
for them to gain additional qualifications but also had some teaching responsibility for student nurses. Wendy has been a non-executive director firstly with 
Wokingham PCT and latterly with NHS Berkshire serving both East and West Berkshire. She has particular interests in Quality and Patient and Public 
Involvement and sees these taking an ever developing and crucial role in the CCG. 

Dr Helen George 
Dr Helen George has worked as a GP in Reading for over 25 years – as a senior partner and more recently as a salaried GP. She is currently a GP at Melrose 
Surgery. For the last two years Helen has been the Berkshire West CCGs’ lead GP for liver disease and Chair of the Liver Disease Steering Group. She is 
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particularly interested in improving outcomes for alcohol dependent patients, as well as providing education and prevention. She has recently completed an 
advanced certificate in community alcohol management and is keen to be part of making changes that have a direct and positive impact on patients’ health 
and wellbeing. 

Dr Aparna Balaji 
Dr Aparna Balaji did her M.B.B.S at the Madras Medical College in India, moving to the UK in 2005. She then completed her GP training in Somerset in the 
Severn Deanery in 2011, working there for a year before moving to Reading. Aparna is a GP in South Reading, currently working at Melrose Surgery where she 
is also the safeguarding lead. Prior to that, she worked at the Reading Walk-in Centre, where she was the palliative care lead. Aparna has a special interest is in 
women’s health and contraception and is involved in the redesign of the gynaecology pathway. She is currently the South Reading CCG lead for urgent care 
and diabetes. 

Dr Kajal Patel 
Dr Kajal Patel has worked in Reading since 2010 and is currently a GP at the Reading Walk-In Centre. She has worked in both the NHS and private sector and 
her background includes completing sessions in general practice, accident and emergency and out of hours. She has diplomas in obstetrics, gynaecology, 
family planning and ear nose and throat (ENT). Kajal is interested in chronic disease management and ways to help patients with multiple conditions to 
manage their health in the community. She is committed to healthcare and realises that its rapid changes, mean clinicians need to be ready to adapt to meet 
the altering needs of local people 

Raju Reddy – Secondary Care Consultant 
Raju has been a full time Consultant Paediatric Anaesthetist at Birmingham Children’s Hospital since 2008. He trained in anaesthetics at various hospitals in 
the West Midlands.  He also worked at CS Mott Childrens Hospital, University of Michigan, USA for a year in 2007 as a visiting consultant paediatric 
anesthesiologist.  
Raju holds a recent MBA degree from Warwick Business School and has a keen interest in NHS finance matters; he is especially interested in NHS costing. He is 
a clinical lead for the Cost Recovery Support Team of the UK Department of Health and a CQC specialist adviser. He has also been part of a national delivery 
group for "Future Focused Finance" (FFF) which aims to improve the joint working between clinicians and finance professionals. 
Raju also serves as the secondary care lead on the governing body of Gloucestershire CCG. 

Executive Officers 

Cathy Winfield – Chief Officer  
Cathy graduated from Manchester University with a nursing degree and spent most of her nursing career as a district nurse.  She went on to manage 
community nursing teams and community hospitals, eventually becoming Director of Nursing in a Community Trust. When Primary Care Groups (PCGs) were 
established, Cathy became Chief Executive of a PCG.  She also worked part time on a PhD during this period, examining clinical decision making in district 

http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/whos-who/
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nursing.  With the advent of PCTs in 2002, Cathy moved into the commissioning function and became Director of Commissioning in PCTs in North Hampshire 
and more recently, Berkshire West. 
 
Rebecca Clegg - Acting Chief Financial Officer  
Rebecca Clegg is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. She has worked in the NHS for over 20 years in a career that has included 
working at an acute trust, commissioning and regional level experience.  She has responsibilities for finance, contracting, estates and corporate governance 
for the four CCGs in Berkshire West. 
 
Debbie Simmons - Nurse Director  
Debbie has over 30 years’ experience working in the NHS. Her career spans across roles in nursing, midwifery and health visiting and for many years she has 
specialised in the field of safeguarding children. Debbie has previously worked as Assistant Director for Quality and Clinical Excellence in Hounslow and 
Richmond Community Healthcare NHS Trust. Debbie is the Berkshire West CCG Federation Nurse Director, where she is the Executive lead for Quality and 
safeguarding. 
 
Gabrielle Alford – Director of Joint Commissioning 
Gabrielle trained at University College Hospital London and is a registered general nurse and mental health nurse.  She has 30 years’ experience working in a 
variety of NHS and local authority organisations.  She studied for a Post Graduate Diploma and Masters in Health Promotion. In the 1990s she worked in 
senior nursing and management posts in London including community, specialist and mental health and older people services. In 2000 she became a Locality 
Director and then Director of Services in Camden and Islington Mental Health and Social Care Trust.  In 2004 she relocated to Surrey and moved into PCTs in 
Associate Director Roles in commissioning/strategic planning and partnerships. Gabrielle joined Berkshire West CCGs as their Director of Joint Commissioning 
in April 2013. 
 
Sam Burrows - Director of Strategy 
Sam Burrows joined the Berkshire West CCGs in May 2016 as the Director of Strategy and oversees the development of new models of care for the Berkshire 
West system. After training to be a lawyer, Sam became an alumnus of the NHS Graduate Management Training Scheme. He has worked in hospital 
management and commissioning roles for NHS organisations in London and the South of England, prior to a number of years practising as a management 
consultant with a focus on healthcare improvement. Some of the programmes of work which Sam has been involved with include a leadership role within the 
largest hospital reconfiguration programme attempted in the NHS; the transformation of elective waiting times for a major European health economy and the 
delivery of a £130m cost improvement programme for the NHS in London. Sam brings a wealth of knowledge, experience and contacts to the NHS in Berkshire 
West. 
 
Eleanor Mitchell - Director of Operations 
Eleanor is the Operations Director, South Reading for Berkshire West CCG and is the lead for long term conditions. She has been working in Berkshire West 
since May 2012. Prior to this role she has had commissioning experience working in East Berkshire. She is also a qualified pharmacist and has over 30 years of 

http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/whos-who/
http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/whos-who/
http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/whos-who/
http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/whos-who/
http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/whos-who/
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experience working in the NHS in both primary care and the hospital sector. Her role is to lead on the transformation of care to people with long term 
conditions , which includes diabetes, respiratory conditions, kidney disease and heart conditions. 

Janet Meek, Chief Financial Officer, on secondment to NHS England South from 1 November 2016. 
Gabrielle Alford, Director Joint Commissioning, covered by Sara Warner. 
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REGISTER OF ATTENDANCE BY GOVERNING BODY MEMBERS

FY 2017/18
Joint Meeting Joint Meeting Joint Meeting Joint Meeting Joint MeetingJoint Meeting

Members 04/04/17 03/05/17 07/06/17 18/07/17 06/09/17 12/10/17 21/11/17 06/12/17 10/01/18 06/02/18 07/03/18
Gabrielle Alford  A A A   A A A A
Sarah Garner  A
Dr Aparna Balaji A  A   A   A 

Sam Burrows A    A A A   

Saby Chetcuti          

Helen George    A  A   A 

Debbie Simmons   A       

Kajal Patel A  A       

Eleanor Mitchell      A    

Dr Raju Reddy          

Dr Bubbu Thava   A       

Cathy Winfield  A A       

Wendy Bower    A      

Rebecca Clegg          
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Audit Committee 

The CCG’s Constitution allows the formation of a Joint Audit Committee with the other CCGs in Berkshire West.  The principal purpose of the Committee is to 
review critically each CCG’s financial reporting and internal control principles, ensuring that all the CCG activities are managed in accordance with the law and 
regulations governing the NHS and to ensure appropriate relationships with both internal and external auditors are maintained. In accordance with its terms 
of reference the Committee held four meetings in 2017-2018. 

The CCG Lay Members for Governance are the members of the Joint Audit Committee: 

 

• Sabrina Chetcuti, Lay Member, South Reading CCG 

• David George, Lay Member, Wokingham CCG (Chair) 

• Leslie Jones, Lay Member, North and West Reading CCG 

• Geoff Braham, Lay Member, Newbury and District CCG 

 
Attendance at meetings was as follows: 

Member May-17 Sept-17 Jan-18 Mar-18 
Sabrina Chetcuti     
David George C  A  
Leslie Jones     
Geoff Braham*  C C C 

 
*Geoff Braham will Chair the Audit Committee of Berkshire West CCG from 1 April 2018. 
Other Committee Membership 
Details of the Remuneration Committee Membership are given in the Remuneration Committee Report. 
 
Details of membership of all other Governing Body and Membership Body Committees are given in the Governance Statement. 
 
Pension Liabilities 

Key 
 Attended 
A Absent 
C Chair 
 Not a member 
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Details of how pension liabilities are treated in the accounts can be found in the notes to the accounts.  Note 1 on Accounting Policies, includes paragraph 
1.6 on Employee Benefits and note 4.3 includes further information regarding pension costs. 
 
External Audit 
The CCG’s External Auditor is EY  LLP. The cost of the work performed by EY LLP in 2017-2018 was £28,920 (including VAT). The work performed was in 
relation to statutory audit and services carried out in relation to the statutory audit. It also includes any statutory activities under the Code of Practice 
e.g. value for money work. 
 
Serious Incidents 
The CCG did not have any personal data related serious incidents in 2017-2018. This is as reported in the 
Governance Statement. 
 
Cost Allocation and Settling of Charges for Information 
The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and the levying of charges for information. 
 
Principles for Remedy 
The CCG is aware of the duty around Principles for Remedy and has adopted the principles representing best practice as part of its complaints procedure. 
There have been no instances where it has been necessary for the CCG to apply these principles. 
 
Employee Consultation 
HR Services and Policy Development are outsourced to South Central and West Commissioning Support Unit under a Service Level Agreement. Policies are 
available to staff via the ConSultHR portal. The CCG has consulted with staff with regard to a number of HR policies. The CCG has also consulted with 
groups of staff regarding organisational and structural change where this has an impact on individuals. 

http://10.162.216.140/Pages/Default.aspx
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Health and Safety 
The Clinical Commissioning Group is fully committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare of its staff and anyone else whose health, safety and 
welfare could be affected by its work and activities. The CCG recognises its statutory responsibilities as described within the Health and Safety at Work Act 
1974 and the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 and aims to do all that it can to ensure staff and others are not exposed to 
unacceptable risk. The CCG’s Statement of Commitment describes the commitment and safety culture within the CCG and all staff must have read the 
statement. 
 
We also recognise that a healthy workforce working within a safe working environment has a positive impact on our abilities to deliver services and achieve 
excellence in our work. As such the CCG will provide the leadership and resources to ensure that individuals and managers have the  guidance, understanding 
and opportunity to maintain welfare, a safe working environment and to work safely. 
 
The CCG has an approved Health and Safety Policy in place and the Accountable Officer is the Executive lead for Health and Safety within the CCG. The 
implementation of our Health and Safety Policy is an individual and management responsibility and accountability is clear at every level. Health and Safety 
Management is part of our everyday approach to our work and its effectiveness will be measured and monitored as a core business activity. 
 
We have identified the following health and safety objectives: 
 
 Identify and manage health and safety risks to meet legislative requirements and achieve best practice standards. 
 Do all that we can to ensure staff and others are not exposed to unacceptable risk. 
 Implement a safety management system that supports individuals and managers to actively manage foreseeable or identified health and safety 

risks. 
 Ensure expectations and standards for Health and Safety are clearly defined and local arrangements are documented. 
 Provide the leadership and resources to ensure that individuals and managers have the guidance, understanding and opportunity to maintain and 

improve welfare, safe working environment and safe working practice. 
 Ensure individual and management responsibility and accountability is clear at every level. 
 Create the conditions in which Health and Safety Management will be part of our everyday approach to our work. 
 Measure and monitor Health and Safety as a core business activity. 
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Counter Fraud 
 
NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) leads on work to identify and tackle crime across the NHS in the UK.  Their aim is to protect NHS staff and resources 
from activities that would otherwise undermine their effectiveness and their ability to meet the needs of patients and professionals.  Ultimately, this helps to 
ensure the proper use of valuable NHS resources and a safer, more secure environment in which to deliver and receive care.  The CCG is committed to 
reducing the risk from fraud and corruption and discharges its counter fraud responsibilities locally through its appointed Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) 
who acts as the “first line of defence” against fraud, bribery and corruption, working closely with the CCG and NHSCFA.  The Acting Chief Finance Officer is the 
Executive Lead for Counter Fraud.  The CCG has a Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy and Response Plan in place and this was reviewed in January 2018. 

The CCG locally supports the NHSCFA objectives in tackling fraud effectively in order to: 
• Prevent and deter fraud by removing opportunities for it to occur or re-occur.  
• Educate and inform those who work for, or use, the NHS about fraud in the NHS and how to tackle it. 
• Hold to account those who have committed fraud against the NHS by detecting and prosecuting offenders and seeking redress where viable. 

The LCFS presents regularly to the Audit Committee that monitors progress against an approved work and resource plan.   

The Counter Fraud work has been aligned to the NHSCFA Standards for Commissioners to maintain and improve compliance: 

i) STRATEGIC GOVERNANCE: The CCG demonstrates commitment to countering fraud. Delivery of a risk-based counter fraud work plan and compliance with the 
Standards – the outcomes of which are monitored by the Audit Committee. The CCG has arrangements in place to monitor compliance with NHSCFA standards 
for the CCG’s primary and secondary care providers. 

ii) INFORM AND INVOLVE:  The CCG operates a multi-dimensional programme of awareness raising across all staff and engages with stakeholders within and 
external to the organisation. The CCG has a code of conduct and anti-fraud policy, the effectiveness and awareness of these are measured. 

iii) PREVENT, DETER, and DETECT: The CCG aims to “fraud proof” policies and procedures and evaluate effectiveness. The CCG proactively uses local and national 
intelligence and alerts to identify and mitigate fraud risk. The CCG has effective systems in place to mitigate fraud risk for pre-employment, procurement and 
invoice fraud. 

iv) HOLD TO ACCOUNT:  The CCG ensures that all referrals and investigations are progressed in accordance with good practice and national standards. The CCG 
seeks to recover lost monies following an assessment of likelihood and recovery and publicises successful cases. 

The CCG also participates in the National Fraud Initiative Exercise now run by the Cabinet Office which is a mandatory exercise that matched electronic data 
within and between public and private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud.  It has been run every two years since 1996.  
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Losses and Special Payments 
The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was 
as follows: 

Total 
Number 
of Cases 

Total 
Value of 
Cases 

Total 
Number 
of Cases 

Total 
Value of 
Cases 

2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 

 
Number £'000 Number £'000 

Administrative write-offs 1 7 1 26 

 Total 1 7 1 26 

         The Administrative write-offs figure contains £7k which was written off as uncollectable as part  the 50% risk sharing 
arrangement with Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust for OSV - Non EEA ( Overseas Visitors - outside European 
Economic Area) who are required to pay for NHS treatments received.  

Better Payment Practice Code 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to pay all valid invoices by the date due or within 30 days of the receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is 
later.  Details of the CCG’s performance against the requirements of the code can be found in note 6.1 of the Annual Accounts. 

The CCG has not signed up to the Prompt Payment Code. 

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 

We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has a Major Incident Plan and incident response plan in place. These are fully compliant with the NHS 
England Emergency Preparedness Framework 2015 and NHS England Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 2014. The Clinical 
Commissioning Group annually reviews and updates the plans and as a result of lessons learnt from exercises and live incidents amends plans accordingly. 
Reports are provided to the Governing Body as required.  

The CCG’s Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response work plan for 2018/19 continues to include regular updates of all documents (including the 
Business Continuity Plan).  

As required the CCG has appointed Wendy Bower as the Lay Member lead for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response. 

Cathy Winfield, Acting CCG Executive Lead for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 
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Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors 

So far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s external auditor is unaware.  We have taken appropriate action to ensure 
that we are aware of relevant audit information and have established that our auditor is aware of that information. 

Modern Slavery 
The CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking.  Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2017 will be published on our website http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/ 

Cathy Winfield Chief Officer 
24 May 2018 

http://www.berkshirewestccg.nhs.uk/
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Remuneration Report 
 
Membership of the Remuneration Committee 
 
The CCGs in West Berkshire have a Joint Remuneration Committee and the membership for 2017-2018 was as follows: 
 
• Newbury and District CCG – Geoffrey Braham 
• North and West Reading CCG - Les Jones 
• South Reading CCG - Saby Chetcuti 
• Wokingham CCG - David George 

 
Statement of the policy on the remuneration of senior managers for current and future financial years  
The CCG’s Constitution allows the formation of a Joint Remuneration Committee with the other CCGs in Berkshire West. This has been done to 
ensure consistency and standardisation, as the four CCGs share a Chief Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other executive posts. 

Remuneration is designed to fairly reward based on each individual’s contribution to the organisation’s success taking into account the need to 
recruit, retain and motivate skilled and experienced professionals. This is not withstanding the need to be mindful of paying more than is 
necessary in order to ensure value for money in the use of public resources and the CCG’s running cost allowance. 

Senior managers’ remuneration is set through a process that is based on a consistent framework and independent decision-making based on 
accurate assessments of the weight of roles and individuals’ performance in them. This ensures a fair and transparent process via bodies that 
are independent of the senior managers whose pay is being set. No individual is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration 

Executive senior managers are on permanent NHS contracts. The length of contract, notice period and compensation for early termination are 
set out in the Agenda for Change, NHS terms and conditions of service handbook.   
 
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 
There are 3 Very Senior Managers (VSMs) who have individual notice periods.  During 2017/18, the CCGs’ substantive Chief Finance Officer was 
on secondment to another organisation and the role was covered by a member of staff on the Agenda for Change pay scale rather than the VSM 
pay scale. 
 
All VSM remuneration is determined by the Remuneration Committee based on available national guidance, benchmarking data against other 
CCGs and with due regard for national pay negotiations/awards for NHS staff on national terms and conditions.  The Remuneration Committee 
is also cognisant of public sector pay restraint and its responsibility to ensure that Executive pay remains publicly justifiable.  The Remuneration 
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Committee acknowledges and commits to the requirement to seek pre-approval for salaries in excess of £142,500.  
 
Senior Managers have not received any remuneration linked to performance. 
 
The CCG does not hold a provision for compensation for early retirement.  Any non-contractual payments made outside of the Agenda for 
Change framework would be subject to treasury approval. 

 
Compensation on Early Retirement of for Loss of Office 
No senior manager received payment for compensation on early retirement or loss of office during the financial year (nil in 2016-2017). 
 
Payments to Past Senior Managers 
No payments were made to any individual who was not a senior manager during the financial year but had previously been a senior manager at any time (nil 
in 2016-2017). 



Page | 52 

Salaries and Allowances 2017-2018 (subject to audit) 

Federation 
Salary      

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

South 
Reading 

CCG Salary 
(Bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

(Rounded to 
the nearest 

£100) 

Performance 
Pay and 
bonuses 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

Long Term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(Bands of 
£5,000) 

All     
Pension 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total            
(Bands of 
£5,000) 

Name Title £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 135-140 30-35 0 0-5 0-5 17.5-20 150-155
Rebecca Clegg Acting Chief Finance Officer* 110-115 25-30 0 0-5 0-5 150-152.5 260-265
Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 90-95 20-25 0 0-5 0-5 12.5-15 105-110
Gabrielle Alford Director of Joint Commissioning* 95-100 20-25 0 0-5 0-5 45-47.5 140-145
Raju Reddy Secondary Care Consultant* 35-40 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 35-40
Dr A Irfan Federation Chair* 40-45 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 40-45
Helen Clark** Director of Primary Care* 55-60 10-15 0 0-5 0-5 22.5-25 80-85
Sam Burrows Director of Strategy* 90-95 20-25 0 0-5 0-5 20-22.5 110-115
Eleanor Mitchell Director of Operations 80-85 0 0-5 0-5 12.5-15 95-100
Dr Bubbu Thava GP Clinical Chair 105-110 0 0-5 0-5 30-32.5 135-140
Dr Aparna  Balaji GP Clinical Lead 35-40 0 0-5 0-5 5-7.5 40-45
Dr Helen George GP Clinical Lead 35-40 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 40-45
Dr Kajal Patel GP Clinical Lead 55-60 0 0-5 0-5 10-12.5 65-70
Sabrina Chetcuti Lay member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10
Wendy Bower Lay member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10

*These roles are shared across the four CCGs in West Berkshire.  Therefore the report shows the CCG’s share of the relevant components of remuneration. The share that has been used is the fair
share based on the CCG’s allocations relative to the other CCGs in West Berkshire.  In addition, the senior managers’ total salary for all 4 CCGs has been included. **Helen Clark, Director of Primary
Care 1 April 2017 ongoing.  The role of Director of Joint Commissioning was covered by Sarah Garner as an interim in Q4.
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Salaries and Allowances 2016-2017 

Name Title 

Federation 
Salary (Bands 

of £5,000) 

South 
Reading 

CCG 
Salary 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
(Rounded 

to the 
nearest 
£100) 

Performance 
Pay and 

bonuses (Bands 
of £5,000) 

Long Term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses (Bands 

of £5,000) 

All 
Pension 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
(Bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 130-135 25-30 0 0-5 0-5 77.5-80 210-215
Janet Meek** Chief Finance Officer* 65-70 10-15 0 0-5 0-5 85-87.5 150-155
Rebecca Clegg** Acting Chief Finance Officer* 40-45 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 82.5-85 125-130
Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 90-95 15-20 0 0-5 0-5 42.5-45 135-140
Gabrielle Alford Director of Joint Commissioning* 85-90 15-20 0 0-5 0-5 20-22.5 110-115
Raju Reddy Secondary Care Consultant* 35-40 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 35-40
Fiona Slevin-Brown** Director of Strategy* 0-5 0-5 0 0-5 0-5 67.5-70 70-75
Sam Burrows** Director of Strategy* 75-80 15-20 0 0-5 0-5 17.5-20 95-100
Dr Abid Irfan Federation Chair* 40-45 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 40-45
Eleanor Mitchell Director of Operations 80-85 0 0-5 0-5 17.5-20 100-105
Dr Ishak Nadeem** GP Clinical Chair 55-60 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 55-60
Dr Bubbu Thava GP Clinical Chair 60-65 0 0-5 0-5 17.5-20 80-85
Dr Aparna  Balaji GP Clinical Lead 35-40 0 0-5 0-5 0 35-40
Helen George GP Clinical Lead 35-40 0 0-5 0-5 280-282.5 315-320
Kajal Patel GP Clinical Lead 50-55 0 0-5 0-5 245-247.5 295-300
Sabrina Chetcuti Lay member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10
Wendy Bower Lay member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10
*These roles are shared across the four CCGs in West Berkshire.  Therefore the report shows the CCG’s share of the relevant components of remuneration. The share that has been used is the fair
share based on the CCG’s allocations relative to the other CCGs in West Berkshire.  In addition, the senior managers’ total salary for all 4 CCGs has been included.  **Janet Meek is on secondment to
NHS England South. Rebecca Clegg Acting Chief Finance Officer from 1 November 2016 ongoing. Sam Burrows, Director of Strategy from 9 May 2016 ongoing. Fiona Slevin-Brown was Director of
Nursing from 1 April 2016 to 10 April 2016. Dr Ishak Nadeen was Chair from 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2016. Dr Bubbu Thava, Chair from 1 December 2016 ongoing.
. 
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Pension Benefits 2017-2018 (subject to audit) 

Name Title 

Real            
increase in 
pension at 

pension age 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Real            
increase in 

pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age (bands 
of £2,500) 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 

age at 31 
March 
2018 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2018 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 
1st April 

2017 

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 

31 March 
2018 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 0-2.5 5-7.5 45-50 145-150 938 86 1,034 0 
Rebecca Clegg Acting Chief Finance Officer* 7.5-10 15-17.5 30-35 80-85 411 143 558 0 
Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 0-2.5 2.5-5 20-25 70-75 442 50 496 0 
Gabrielle Alford Director of Joint Commissioning* 2.5-5 7.5-10 30-35 95-100 590 86 681 0 
Raju Reddy Secondary Care Consultant* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Helen Clark Director of Primary Care* 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 30-35 156 19 176 0 
Sam Burrows Director of Strategy* 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 0-5 9 11 20 0 
Eleanor Mitchell Director of Operations 0-2.5 2.5-5 25-30 75-80 493 49 546 0 
Dr Aparna  Balaji GP Clinical Lead 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 0-5 0 4 4 0 
Helen George GP Clinical Lead 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 35-40 247 14 264 0 
Kajal Patel GP Clinical Lead 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 30-35 132 13 146 0 
Dr Bubbu Thava GP Clinical Lead 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 30-35 144 22 168 0 
*These roles are shared between the 4 CCGs in West Berkshire. The amounts shown above represent the gross amounts rather than an apportioned share.
There are no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members as they do not receive pensionable remuneration
Where individuals are not members of the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of their role with the CCG, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for those individuals
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Pension Benefits 2016-2017 

Name Title 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension 
age (bands 
of £2,500) 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age (bands 
of £2,500) 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 

age at 31 
March 
2017 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Lump sum 
at pension 

age 
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2017 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2016 

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 31 

March 
2017 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 2.5-5 12.5-15 45-50 140-145 829 109 938 0 
Janet Meek** Chief Finance Officer* 0-2.5 5-7.5 30-35 95-100 563 61 668 0 
Rebecca Clegg** Acting Chief Finance Officer* 0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 65-70 364 19 411 0 
Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 0-2.5 5-7.5 20-25 65-70 384 58 442 0 
Gabrielle Alford Director of Joint Commissioning* 0-2.5 2.5-5 25-30 85-90 544 46 590 0 
Raju Reddy Secondary Care Consultant* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Fiona Slevin-Brown** Director of Strategy* 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 85-90 461 1 516 0 
Sam Burrows** Director of Strategy* 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 0-5 0 8 9 0 
Eleanor Mitchell Director of Operations 0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 70-75 454 39 493 0 
Dr Bubbu Thava Chair 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-12.5 30-35 121 23 144 0 
Helen George GP Clinical Lead 10-12.5 35-37.5 10-12.5 35-40 0 247 247 0 
Kajal Patel GP Clinical Lead 10-12.5 30-32.5 10-12.5 30-35 0 137 138 0 
Dr Ishak Nadeem** Chair 0-2.5 0-2.5 7.5-10 20-25 173 10 193 0 
*These roles are shared between the 4 CCGs in West Berkshire. The amounts shown above represent the gross amounts rather than an apportioned share.
**Dr Ishak Nadeem was Chair from 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2016. Janet Meek is on secondment to NHS England South. Rebecca Clegg, Acting Chief Finance
Officer from 1 November 2016, ongoing. Sam Burrows, Director of Strategy from 9 May 2016 ongoing. Fiona Slevin-Brown was Director of Nursing from 1 April 2016 to
10 April 2016.  There are no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members as they do not receive pensionable remuneration

Where individuals are not members of the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of their role with the CCG, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for those individuals 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in 
time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or any other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the 
scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008. 
 
On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) 
discount rate from 3.0% to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report. Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and 
prepare annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this report for members of the NHS Pension scheme are based on the previous discount rate and have 
not been recalculated. 
 
Real Increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions 
paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for 
the start and end of the period. 
 
Pay Multiples (subject to audit) 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in the CCG in the financial year 2017-2018 was £210k to £215k (2016-17 was £210k to 
£215k). This was 2.3 times (2016-2017 2.4 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £91,458 (2016-2017 £89,889). 
 
In 2017-2018, no employee (2016-17, no employee) received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director/member of the CCG Governing Body. 
Remuneration ranged from £8,000 to £211,000 (2016-2017 £23,000 to £211,000). 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments. It does not 
include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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Staff Report 

Employee benefits relate to staff employed by the CCG.  The majority of staff that undertake work for the CCG are hosted by Wokingham CCG and costs are 
recharged and accounted for on a gross basis. 
 
Employee benefits relate to staff employed by the CCG including staff working on continuing healthcare (CHC) assessment and administration. The majority 
of staff work for all 4 CCGs in Berkshire West and their costs are recharged on a gross basis. Until 31 March 2016, the CHC staff were employed by Windsor, 
Ascot and Maidenhead CCG and recharges were accounted for on a net basis. 
 
Employee Benefits 2017-2018 (subject to audit) 

 

 
  

Employee benefits 2017-18

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 163 163 0 155 155 0 8 8 0
Social security costs 18 18 0 18 18 0 0 0 0
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme 23 23 0 22 22 0 1 1 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 205 205 0 195 195 0 10 10 0

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised co 205 205 0 195 195 0 10 10 0

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 205 205 0 195 195 0 10 10 0

Total Admin Programme
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Employee benefits 2016-2017 

 

 
 
 
 
Average number of people employed 2017-18 
The CCG had a total of 5 permanent staff employed in 17/18 (4 2016/17). 

Staff Sickness 2017-18 

  
2017-18 

  
Number 

Total Days Lost 
 

3.0 
Total Staff Years 

 
5.0 

Average working Days Lost 
 

0.7 
 

Total Admin Programme

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 164 163 0 163 163 0 0 0 0
Social security costs 18 18 0 18 18 0 0 0 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 23 23 0 23 23 0 0 0 0
Other pension costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other employment benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Termination benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 206 205 0 205 205 0 0 0 0

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 206 205 0 205 205 0 0 0 0

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 206 205 0 205 205 0 0 0 0
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Off-payroll Engagements 
The CCG did not have any off payroll engagements that require reporting i.e. for more than £245 per day and longer than 6 months in duration.  However, 
in order to cover long term sickness the post of Director of Joint Commissioning has been covered by an interim engaged by NHS Wokingham CCG since 
January 2018. 
 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year. 

1  

Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or 
senior officials with significant responsibility, during the financial year.   

14 
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SOUTH READING CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP GOVERNING BODY MEMBERS 

Declared Interests – March 2018 
 

Name CCG Title/Position Declaration Nature of 
Interest 

Dr Bu Thava 
 

Governing Body GP 
Member 

 GP at Milman Road Surgery. 
 Clinical Director at Reading Alliance from April 2017. 

Personal 

Saby Chetcuti Lay Member Governance  Appointed Governor of South Central Ambulance Service (CCGs North). Personal 

Dr Raju Reddy Secondary Care 
Consultant 

 Secondary Care Consultant on the Governing Body of Gloucester CCG – Ended 30 April 2018. 
 Consultant Anaesthetist, Birmingham Children’s Hospital. 
 Wife is a Salaried GP in Birmingham, Modality Group. 
 Ad-hoc consultancy work with Monmouth Partners (Sept 2017 onwards) – nothing 

undertaken to date. 
 

Personal 
Personal 
Family 
Personal 

Helen George Governing Body GP 
Member 

 Lead GP in Melrose Surgery for End of Life, no pecuniary interests. Personal 

Eleanor Mitchell Operations Director none  

Gabrielle Alford* Joint Commissioning 
Director 

None.  

Kajal Patel Governing Body GP 
Member 

 GP Reading Walk in Centre – Ended 28 February 2018. 
 GP at Milman Road Surgery. 

Personal 

Dr Aparna Balaji Governing Body GP 
Member 

 GP at Melrose Surgery and Reading Walk-in Centre. 
 Husband Consultant Paediatrician at Royal Berkshire Hospital. 

 
Personal 
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Name Position Declaration Nature of 
interest 

Rebecca Clegg* (Interim) Chief Finance 
Officer 

Director of Bluequelle Ltd Partners IT Consultancy Business. 
Partner works for OLM Group. 

Personal 

Wendy Bower Lay Member for PPE Director of Moneymaximiser Ltd. 
Governor for CCG Federation at RBFT.  
Lay member PPI South Rading (May 2010). 
Brother is Clinical Trials Specialist with Quintiles. 
Daughter works at Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust. 

Personal 
Personal 
Personal 
Family 
Family 

Cathy Winfield* Chief Officer Director of Linden House Management Committee, Alton, Hampshire 
Mentor for external individuals. 

Personal 

Debbie Simmons* Nurse Director None. 

Sam Burrows* Director of Strategy Wife, Rosanne Burrows (nee Ransome) Head of People & OD for NHS England South. 
Wife, Roseanne Burrows, Programme Director, Commissioning Capability Programme at NHS 
England (National). 

Family 

*Employed by NHS Wokingham CCG at host organisation for Berkshire West CCGs’ shared executive management team.

Cathy Winfield, Chief Officer 
24 May 2018 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that 
Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the 
Accountable Officer of South Reading CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money 
and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable,  
• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical 

Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),  
• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 

fraud and other irregularities). 
• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money, 
• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with 
Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each 
financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes 
in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual 
issued by the Department of Health and in particular to: 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply 
suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have 

been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and, 
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• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief,  I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

I also confirm that:

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I
have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

• that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual
report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

Cathy Winfield 

Chief Officer 24 May 2017 
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Governance Statement 
Introduction and context 
South Reading CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is 
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the 
provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   

As at 1 April 2017, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006. 

  
Scope of responsibility 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning 
group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently 
and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 

 
Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

The CCG Constitution sets out how the organisation will work with and on behalf of the local clinical community to enhance the health and wellbeing of its 
local population, and how it will fulfil its statutory duties. As stated in the Constitution, the Members have agreed to work together as the CCG, and to work 
in federation with other clinical commissioning groups in Berkshire West, in accordance with the terms of the Federation Agreement (Memorandum of 
Understanding). 

Standing Orders regulate the proceedings of the CCG, as set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (“HSCA”). The Standing Orders, together with the 
CCG’s scheme of delegation and the CCG’s prime financial policies, provide the procedural framework within which the CCG discharges its business.  

The Membership Body  

Matters Reserved to the Membership Body (the Council of Members) are clearly defined in Part I Section 22 of the CCG Constitution, and in Part IV of the 
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Constitution (the Scheme of Delegation of Authority). The responsibilities of the Membership Body include among others: actively participating in and 
contributing to the productive, effective and efficient operation of the CCG; and assisting in the analysis, development and implementation of patient 
pathways within the local health economy with a view to improving services in a cost-effective manner.  
 
In accordance with its responsibilities the Membership Body met monthly during 2017/18 (with the exception of May which was used to deliver a GP 
provider workshop on the Integrated Care System and June and August due to staffing levels), with formal meetings chaired by the Chair of Council, a 
Governing body member. GP attendance at meetings has been high; other participants have included: Practice Managers (on an ad hoc basis), clinical 
pharmacists, the CCG’s Operations Director and Commissioning Manager, with attendance by CCG senior management, local authority/public health 
representatives, and by NHS service providers where relevant.  
 
Attendance, apologies for absence, and declarations of interests and/or conflicts of interests are formally recorded in the minutes of meetings. Standing 
agenda items cover commissioning, clinical updates, finance and performance; other  regular items include reports from the CCG Chair and those from 
governing body clinical leads; governance - including review and agreement of proposed constitutional amendments, primary care strategy update, practice 
issues, and clinical concerns process and feedback - to enable Members to share concerns and consider how these might be addressed. 
 
 2017/18 agenda items also included: clinical concerns process, Community Education Provider Network (CPEN) update, Anticipatory Care CES, Care Homes, 
Prescribing Quality Scheme, National Diabetes Audit collection, Time to Care programme, MSK services, 0-19 nursing service, safeguarding, social 
prescribing, high intensity users project, community ophthalmology provider, infection control and cancer updates. 
 
Following each meeting, the Chair of Council provides a summary report on Membership Body activities, agenda item discussions and decisions taken, to 
the next meeting of the Governing Body. 
 

The Governing Body  

The CCG has established a governing body (the “Governing Body”) which shall “fulfil its statutory responsibilities under the HSCA and such other functions 
as are delegated to it by the CCG which shall include the powers and authority to lead the CCG and to set its strategic direction in line with the views set by 
the members of the Governing Body.” 
 
The purpose of the CCG governing body is to lead clinically the commissioning of healthcare and related services for the people in the local area. Paragraphs 
26-29 of Part I of the CCG Constitution detail the responsibilities of the governing body. The CCG governing body comprises GPs from across the local area, a 
secondary care consultant, a lay member for governance and a lay member for patient and public involvement, and the CCG’s senior management team.  
 
In accordance with its responsibilities, the CCG governing body has met four times in public in 2017/18, with other meetings (not held in public) in other 
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months. The meetings held in public are publicised on the CCG website, and via social media, and through posters or screens in GP practices.  Members of 
the public and of local patient interest groups are invited to attend. Meetings are where possible held at the Museum of English Rural Life to enable 
attendance by local residents. Questions on specific agenda items can be put to the CCG in advance of the meeting to enable the relevant governing body 
member to provide an informed response; and time is allocated for such questions on the agenda of the meetings held in public. Members’ attendance, 
apologies for absence, and declarations of interests and/or conflicts of interests are formally recorded in the minutes of the meetings. 
 
Throughout the year the governing body received regular reports from the CCG Chair; the lay member for patient and public engagement (PPE); and from 
the GP Lead for the Health and Wellbeing Board. It has also received regular reports from the CCG Chief Officer and other members of the executive team, 
including financial reports; quality and performance data; risk and governance; summary and annual reports from the chairs of the CCG’s delegated 
committees; programme board annual reports. These, together with a wide range of other updates, enable the Governing Body to assess performance 
against their objectives and direct further action where necessary. 
 

Delegated Committees and coverage of their work (terms of reference) 

In accordance with the CCG Constitution, the CCG, operating through the Berkshire West Federation, established the following delegated committees which 
are joint committees of the governing bodies of the four Berkshire West CCGs (that is: Newbury and District, North and West Reading, South Reading, and 
Wokingham CCGs). 

• Audit Committee 

• Remuneration Committee   

• Commissioning Committee  

• QIPP and Finance Committee  

• Quality Committee  

• Primary Care Commissioning Committee  

• (Individual Funding) Case Review Committee and Joint Appeals Panel 

 

The terms of reference of each of these committees are reviewed and approved annually by the governing body and are made available through the 
publication of the CCG Constitution and of governing body meeting papers on the CCG website. Following each meeting (except the Case Review 
Committee) the committee chair provides a summary written report to the next governing body meeting in order to provide assurance that the committee 
is effectively discharging its responsibilities.  The Audit, QIPP and Finance and Quality Committees undertake a self-assessment exercise on their 
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effectiveness as part of their annual report. Attendances, apologies for absence and declarations and/or conflicts of interest are formally recorded in the 
minutes of meetings. 

Audit Committee: reviews critically the CCG’s financial reporting and internal control principles; ensures that all the CCG activities are managed in 
accordance with legislation and regulations governing the NHS; ensures adequate assurance is in place over the management of significant risks; and 
ensures that appropriate relationships with both internal and external auditors are maintained. 

The Committee met five times in 2017-18, in accordance with its terms of reference. Membership comprises the lay member with responsibility for 
governance of each of the four CCGs in Berkshire West. Meetings are attended by the CCG Chief Finance Officer (or designated deputy). The clinical chairs 
of the four CCGs are invited to attend the meeting to review the annual accounts. The Chief Officer and other members of the CCG executive team and of 
South, Central and West Commissioning Support Unit (SCWCSU) attend meetings as requested. Representatives of internal audit and external audit attend 
each meeting, and also meet in private session with the Lay Members as required. The agenda of the Audit Committee is governed by its annual business 
cycle which is reviewed and agreed at each committee meeting.  

Remuneration Committee: reviews the framework for the Remuneration, Allowances and Terms of Service for employees of the CCGs and for people who 
provide services to the CCGs. It makes recommendations to ensure effective oversight of the performance of the CCG’s Chair, Chief Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer and other senior posts, and for scrutiny of redundancy payments.  

The Committee comprises one lay member from each of the four CCG Governing Bodies. The Chief Finance Officer attends each meeting of the committee. 
The committee met four times in 2017/18.  

Commissioning Committee: makes recommendations to the CCG to enable it to maximise its ability to fulfil its statutory duties, working in close 
collaboration with the other three CCGs in Berkshire West. The committee also makes recommendations to the CCG on joint commissioning where a pan-
CCG approach would be beneficial, and implements and pursues the joint commissioning strategy agreed by the four CCGs.  

The Committee comprises: the chair of each of the four CCGs, the CCGs’ executive team, the secondary care consultant and a lay member with 
responsibility for public and patient engagement. The committee meets every two weeks where possible - and at least monthly; and in accordance with the 
CCG Constitution is chaired by the CCGs’ Federation chair. 

QIPP & Finance Committee: monitors contract performance, the QIPP programme, and overall use of resources; monitors financial performance in relation 
to key national targets and the NHS Outcomes Framework; approves QIPP business cases and release of funding from allocated reserves; and monitors and 
provides a scrutiny function to ensure the delivery of projects within the CCG’s care programme boards. Its duties include the review of detailed monthly 
monitoring reports and year-end forecasts of performance against financial performance targets, including contract positions and QIPP plans, for each of 
the CCGs in Berkshire West; and informing the CCG’s Governing Body of action plans to mitigate high-risk areas and underperformance or over 
performance as appropriate.  

Membership includes: the CCG lay member with responsibility for governance (deputy chair); GP member of the governing body (one from each of the 
CCGs); Chief Finance Officer (chair), supported by: CCG managers with responsibility for performance of QIPP (which may be the CCG operations director, 
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and programme leads for each of the programmes), Head of Performance, Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Director of Joint Commissioning, and SCWCSU staff 
responsible for performance and information. Other members are co-opted as necessary, e.g. public health consultant (Local Authority). The Committee 
has met monthly in 2017/18, in accordance with its Terms of Reference.  

Quality Committee: reviews and assures provider performance; has oversight of the quality and safety of commissioned services; ensures that the patient 
voice is captured, and that changes to CCG commissioning strategy are recommended to improve patient experience; reviews reports on Serious Incidents 
and Never Events in commissioned services; ensures that there are processes in place to safeguard adults and children; considers national quality 
inspection reports; and monitors arrangements relating to equality and diversity.  

In accordance with its term of reference, the Committee met six times in 2017/18. Membership includes: the lay member with responsibility for patient 
experience from each of the four CCGs (one of whom chairs the meeting); a clinical member from each governing body of the four CCGs; Secondary Care 
Consultant; Nurse Director; patient/public representative; supported by CCG managers with responsibility for governance and safeguarding, and the CCG 
Quality Team with responsibility for quality improvement.  

Primary Care Commissioning Committee:  carries out the functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS 
Act and the associated Delegation Agreement with NHS England; and has responsibility for implementation of the General Practice Forward View. 

Meetings are held quarterly and in public, with an Operational Group meeting in the intervening months. The voting membership of the Committee 
comprises two lay members (chair and deputy chair), four Governing Body GP Leads (one from each of the CCGs), the Chief Officer, the Nurse Director and 
the Chief Finance Officer. Non-voting membership comprises: the Federation Chair, the Director of Strategy, the Operations Directors of the four CCGs, the 
Director of Primary Care, CCG Practice Manager Representatives, the Primary Care Commissioning Managers, a Local Medical Committee representative, 
Healthwatch representatives, a Local Pharmaceutical Committee representative and three Health and Wellbeing Board representatives.  There is also an 
NHS England representative in attendance in accordance with the Delegation Agreement. 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is directly accountable to the four CCG Governing Bodies, and additionally to the QIPP & Finance Committee 
for financial investment matters.  

 (Individual Funding) Case Review Committee:  considers individual funding requests (IFR) put to it; considers whether the CCGs’ full requirements for 
statement of clinical exceptionality, as defined in the IFR policy, have been demonstrated within the case submitted for consideration of funding; carries out 
its decision making about the IFR in line with the CCG Ethical Framework; and ensures it is consistent in its decision making. 

Meetings are held monthly or more frequently when caseload demands and/or at the discretion of the CCGs. Membership of the committee comprises two 
nominated lay members from the CCGs, one of whom chairs the meetings; a consultant in public health (healthcare priorities), two GP representatives 
nominated by the CCGs’ governing bodies, a CCG operations director, and a member of the CCG Medicines Optimisation Team. Because of the sensitive and 
potentially identifiable nature of the cases reviewed by the CRC, the outcome of the committee’s decisions is communicated only referring clinicians and to 
patients. If patients/family representatives are not satisfied with the outcome, they have the opportunity to request a review by the IFR Appeals Panel 
which meets when such requests are made.  
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UK Corporate Governance Code 
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.  

However, the Code is recognised as good practice, and this Governance Statement demonstrates the clinical commissioning group’s compliance with the 
principles set out in it. For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, and up to the date of signing this statement, the CCG complied with the provisions set 
out in the Code, and applied its principles. In 2017/18 the CCG has identified no instances of non-compliance with the principles of the Code.  

 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it 
by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that the clinical 
commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 
restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the 
necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

 

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  
Robust risk management and internal control measures enable the CCG to achieve an effective corporate governance environment.  

Two organisation-level forms of risk register are in use – the Corporate Risk Register and the Governing Body Assurance Framework. The Governing Body 
Assurance Framework is used by the Governing Body to identify, monitor and evaluate risks to its strategic objectives. It is used alongside other key 
management tools, such as financial reporting, to give the Governing Body a comprehensive picture of the organisational risk profile. The Corporate Risk 
Register outlines operational risks to the objectives of teams and services. Both documents address risk appetite at an individual risk level, by indicating 
whether current ratings are acceptable, and why. In addition, business cases presented to the QIPP & Finance Committee include quality and equality 
impact assessment and potential risks associated with a proposed project or investment.  

 
Capacity to Handle Risk  
The Risk Management Framework and Strategy provide guidance to all staff on the management of strategic and operational risks within the organisation 
and help them to identify, evaluate and reduce the risks that threaten delivery of our key objectives. These documents: 

• Describe the organisation’s accountability framework and reporting structure;  



Page | 70 
 

• Describe the principal processes for managing risk, and the tools to be used; 

• Provide guidance on the escalation and acceptability (tolerance) of risk at different levels of the organisation;  

• Outline risk management responsibilities at all levels of the CCG, and the support/training available within the organisation. 

Identified risks are documented and managed through the use of project and programme board risk registers, in line with the risk management strategy. 
The registers are updated monthly for review by the relevant programme board or delegated committee, before escalation to the governing body.  

Prevention is embedded in the operation of the CCG through the impact assessment of all policies, practices, procedures and decisions.  

Staff are supported to manage risk in a way appropriate to their level of authority and duties. This occurs through the provision of guidance, the regular 
review processes of the strategic and operational risk registers, and through the QIPP Project Management processes.  

 

Risk Assessment  
Risk assessment is conducted in a systematic manner across all aspects of the CCG’s strategic and operational goals.  Risk and the CCG’s risk profile is 
managed by every member of the CCG as part of their work. It is also managed through regular receipt and review of risk registers and risk-related reports 
by the governing body, and its delegated committees, and by the CCG’s care programme boards which in turn report to the QIPP & Finance Committee. 

An internal audit to the CCGs’ risk management processes made a finding around inconsistencies in scoring of risks, which could give rise to weakness in the 
risk escalation process, and therefore in monitoring and challenging at appropriate levels. Following this audit, the CCG put in place a programme to 
support standardisation of approach to assessment of risks.  

Significant risks faced by the CCG this year have included financial performance, provider performance, workforce challenges, and challenges in meeting 
constitutional performance targets. The Governing Body, responsible programme boards and delegated committees have challenged and advised on the 
controls and actions being taken to manage these risks throughout the year.  

 

Other sources of assurance  
Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and 
objectives.  It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
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The CCG maintains a comprehensive system of internal control through the application of its standing orders, prime financial policies and scheme of 
delegation.  

The Audit Committee routinely considers financial and non-financial reports, including from internal audit, external audit and the local counter fraud 
specialist (LCFS), which enable it to assess the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal control mechanisms. It then provides an opinion to the Governing Body as 
to the adequacy of the assurances available.   

All risks are managed through a risk register, and all groups reporting to the CCG Governing Body are responsible for highlighting new risks. Throughout 
2017/18, the corporate risk register, in full or in part, and other relevant risk-related reports were reviewed variously by Audit Committee, QIPP & Finance 
Committee, Quality Committee, and the Care Programme Boards. 

Risks to the achievement of the CCG’s strategic objectives are captured in the governing body assurance framework, which was refreshed for 2017/18. A 
summary risk profile based on this is reviewed at each meeting of the Governing Body, together with the high-level risks from the Corporate Risk Register.  

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.  

The CCG’s internal auditors have carried out this audit and found no areas of non-compliance or partial compliance. They noted that the areas for 
improvement identified in the 2016/17 audit had been addressed by the CCG for 2017/18.  

 

Data Quality 
The Council of Members and the Governing Body both receive a variety of financial, performance and quality data to support them in discharging their 
respective responsibilities.  

Data quality is reviewed and challenged by CCG staff before presentation to the Governing Body and to the Council of Members, and interrogated by those 
bodies during their meetings. The CCG has no significant concern about data quality overall, but any individual data issues identified are reviewed with the 
source provider.  

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in 
particular personal identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the 
annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is 
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

The CCG has achieved Level 2 compliance on the Information Governance Toolkit for 2017-18.  
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The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate 
information.  An information governance management framework and processes and procedures are in place and aligned to the information governance 
toolkit.  All staff undertake annual information governance training and a staff information governance handbook is promoted to ensure staff are aware of 
their information governance roles and responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. In 2017/18, there were no incidents which required reporting to 
the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).  

Information Governance is reported to the Audit Committee as a standing agenda item in each meeting and is reviewed regularly through the CCG 
management meetings. 

 

Business Critical Models 
The CCG is aware of the Macpherson Report on government business critical models and quality assurance mechanisms, and of its findings. The CCG does 
not operate any business critical models as defined in the report.  

 

Third party assurances 
Where the CCG relies on third party providers, it gains assurance through service level agreement and contract specifications; regular review meetings with 
providers on multiple levels; the use of performance data and external regulatory inspection reports; and monitoring and review by appropriate 
programme boards and committees, with onwards reporting in to the Governing Body. 

 

Control Issues 
The CCG reported two items as high risk areas in the Month 9 Governance Statement return – these were in relation to statutory break even duty and 
performance against constitutional targets. 

No other significant control issues have been identified. 

 
Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources 
The CCG has well-established systems and processes for managing its resources effectively, efficiently and economically. 

The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place, and delegates responsibilities to the 
Audit Committee, the Quality Committee and the QIPP and Finance Committee. The Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility to determine 
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arrangements to ensure a sound system of financial control. An audit programme is followed to ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. 

The Audit Committee met regularly throughout the 2017/18 financial year to review and monitor the CCG’s financial reporting and internal control 
principles; to ensure that the CCG activities were managed in accordance with legislation and regulations governing the NHS; and to ensure that 
appropriate relationships were maintained with internal and external auditors.  

The QIPP & Finance Committee met throughout the year to monitor contract and financial performance, the QIPP Plan and overall use of resources; to 
approve QIPP business cases and release of finance from allocated reserves; and to monitor and provide a scrutiny function to ensure the delivery of 
projects within the CCG’s care programme boards.  

The CCG has processes in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness through its procurement, contract negotiation and contract management 
processes. There are regular performance review meetings on the following contracts: Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (hospital services), Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (community and mental health services), and South Central Ambulance Services. Effectiveness is monitored specifically 
through the quality processes and Quality Committee. 

The Chief Finance Officer has met regularly with the CCG’s finance team and held monthly meetings with the CSU’s finance leads to review month-end 
reporting. Regular meetings are also held with the local authorities’ finance leads.  

The CCG informs its control framework by the work over the year of the Internal and External Audit functions. As part of their annual audit, the CCG’s 
external auditors are required to satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
use of its resources. Their audit work is made available to and reviewed by the Audit Committee and Governing Body. 

The CCG has attained the following ratings from NHS England against the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 2017/18:  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Quality of Leadership Green 

Leadership capability and capacity Green 

Quality  Green 

Governance Green 

Leadership around Transformation Green 

Financial Performance Amber 
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Delegation of functions 
The CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation outlines the control mechanisms in place for delegation of functions and is found in the Constitution.  

The Governing Body receives reports from each of its Committees detailing the delivery of work, and associated risks, within their specific remit. 
Additionally, the Governing Body maintains a high level overview of the organisation’s business and identifies and assesses risks and issues straddling 
Committees. These risks are owned and overseen at Governing Body level and scrutinised at each meeting to ensure appropriate management and 
reporting. 

Internal audit is used to provide an in-depth examination of any areas of concern. 

 
Counter fraud arrangements 
The Counter Fraud service for the CCG is provided by the Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who supports organisational compliance with the NHS 
Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption. The Chief Finance Officer is the member of the executive board with responsibility for 
statutory financial duties and corporate governance, including counter fraud, bribery and corruption. A counter-fraud and corruption policy is in place. 
Fraud awareness material, including fraud alerts and information on bribery, is regularly circulated to CCG staff. Fraud referrals are investigated by the LCFS 
and the progress and results of investigations are reported to the Chief Finance Officer and the Audit Committee. Audit Committee receives a report each 
meeting on an aspect of counter-fraud work. 

 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an 
independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk management, governance and 
internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:  
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion – South Reading CCG  

We are satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow an opinion to be given as to the adequacy and 
effectiveness of governance, risk management and control. In giving this opinion, it should be noted that assurance can never be 
absolute. The most that the internal audit service can provide is reasonable assurance that there are no major weaknesses in the 
system of internal control.  

Opinion  

Our opinion is as follows:  

Satisfactory  Generally satisfactory with some improvements required  Major improvement required  Unsatisfactory  

Governance, risk management and control in relation to business critical areas is generally satisfactory. However, there are some 
areas of weakness and non-compliance in the framework of governance, risk management and control which potentially put the 
achievement of objectives at risk.  

Some improvements are required in those areas to enhance the adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk 
management and control. Please see our Summary of Findings in Section 2.  

Commentary  

The key factors that contributed to our opinion are summarised as follows:  

• • Of the eight reviews completed in the year, five have been rated as low risk overall and a further three were not risk rated 
as these were advisory reports. We have not raised any high risk rated reports in 2017/18.  

• • Two of our medium risk findings raised in 2017-18 relate to the satisfactory risk assessment, escalation and monitoring 
process throughout the CCGs and across operations. We found inconsistency of risk ratings (impact and likelihood) and a 
lack of clear escalation guidance. Both could lead to ineffective and / or missed management of risks threatening the 
achievement of CCG objectives.  

• • In addition to the findings raised in the 2017/18 reviews, our follow up procedures performed in Quarter 4 2017/18 
identified that of the 34 findings followed up 33 had been completed. This demonstrates significant progress by 
management in completing actions to mitigate identified risks.  
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Further detail on the three medium risk rated findings raised in 2017-18 is provided below and the CCG should consider whether 
these findings are reflected in the Annual Governance Statement.  

Primary care commissioning  

Our Primary Care Commissioning report included one medium rated and two low risk findings; the medium rated issue was as 
follows.  

The presentation of reporting to the Primary Care Commissioning committee (PCCC), especially the Quality Report, could be 
strengthened to improve user understanding: From our review of the reports taken to the September 2017 PCCC we identified 
areas for improvement in terms of how the information in the Quality Report is presented. These centred on a lack of clarity 
around the narrative surrounding the quality metrics included in the report, which impaired users understanding in establishing 
how RAG ratings were awarded or if individual practices were the cause for concern of multiple metrics. We also identified minor 
areas for improvement in relation to ensuring the milestones against the workstreams presented in the GPFV Implementation 
Plan Programme Report allowed for the awarding of appropriate RAG ratings.  

Corporate Governance  

We reviewed the revised Assurance Framework, Risk Registers and papers of the key committees, to understand if the revised 
framework is consistent with the GP and Mental Health Five Year Forward View and the emerging plans for the Integrated Care 
System and whether it is embedded throughout the CCGs’ risk management processes.  

In addition, as per NHSE requirements, we followed up our prior year Conflict of Interest report findings and noted the related 
actions were implemented. Specifically the Conflicts of Interest policy has been updated to show the minimum requirements of 
the officer reviewing/ approving the declarations made and therefore now follows NHS England’s guidelines and up to date 
conflict of interest forms with all the relevant signatures from new starters are being maintained  

We raised one medium rated finding, which was in relation to inconsistencies in the application of ratings (impact and likelihood) 
on the Corporate Risk Register indicating weaknesses in the risk assessment and escalation process, including risk assessment, 
monitoring and challenging of risk assessments at appropriate levels, committees and Boards.  

If risks are rated inconsistently or not in alignment with the likelihood and impact criteria then the Risk Register effectiveness as a 
tool to manage and monitor threats to the success of the CCGs is undermined and could lead to Lay and management effort being 
diluted and / or targeted at the wrong areas of concern.  
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  If risks are not prioritised and de-escalated appropriately due to inconsistent risk rating and thresholds then severe and / or 

rapidly escalating risks may not be identified on a timely basis increasing the risk of the issue materialising and / or having an 
increased impact. Conversely, Lay and management time may be spent considering risks that are actually of limited immediate 
threat to the CCGs.  

Long Term Conditions Programme Care Boards (LTCPB)  

The review examined the terms of reference, minutes and reporting of the LTCPB and its associated sub-committees (the 
LTCCSG and associated condition specific steering groups) to ensure good governance practices are applied and decisions are 
effectively implemented and followed up. This included attendance at the November 2017 LTCPB as well as the October 2017 
LTCCSG and Diabetes Steering Group. We also reviewed the effectiveness of the interactions and synergies across the CCGs’ 
governance structure.  

We raised one medium and two low risk rated findings. The medium rated risk finding was in relation to the need to 
strengthening the Long Term Conditions Risk Register and establishing risk escalation criteria as there was no formalised or 
documented criteria for risk escalation from the steering groups to the LTCPB.  
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads 
within the clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on 
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other 
reports.  

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its 
principles objectives have been reviewed.  

My review is also informed by: 

• the reports provided throughout the year to the Governing Body from the relevant delegated committees and programme boards in relation to their
management of key risks.

• the reviews, progress reports and opinions provided by our Internal and External Auditors.

• the work of the Audit Committee.

• the regular review of the Governing Body Assurance Framework, Summary Risk Profile and Corporate Risk Register.

• assurance of our delivery, capability and organisational health gained through quarterly assurance meetings with NHS E.

Action plans are implemented and monitored for any area where a need for improvement is identified.

Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified. 

Cathy Winfield, Chief Officer 

24 May 2018 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
NHS South Reading CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.  Relevant disclosures are contained in the Financial 
Statements of this report.  An audit certificate and report is also included in the Financial Statements at page 1 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2018

2017-18 2016-17
Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (1,522) (54)
Other operating income 2 (1,405) (454)
Total operating income (2,927) (508)

Staff costs 4 205 205
Purchase of goods and services 5 160,791 153,682
Provision expense 5 (19) (113)
Other Operating Expenditure 5 304 123
Total operating expenditure 161,281 153,897

Net Operating Expenditure 158,354 153,389

Net expenditure for the year 158,354 153,389

Total Net Expenditure for the year 158,354 153,389
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 158,354 153,389

The notes on pages 7 to 20 form part of this statement.

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2018 2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000
Note

Current assets:
Inventories 8 260 0
Trade and other receivables 9 1,352 2,249
Cash and cash equivalents 10 6 0
Total current assets 1,618 2,249

Total current assets 1,618 2,249

Total assets 1,618 2,249

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 (7,249) (10,466)
Borrowings 12 0 (183)
Provisions 13 (34) (63)
Total current liabilities (7,283) (10,712)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (5,665) (8,463)

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 13 (4) (60)
Total non-current liabilities (4) (60)

Assets less Liabilities (5,669) (8,523)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (5,669) (8,523)
Total taxpayers' equity: (5,669) (8,523)

The notes on pages 7 to 20 form part of this statement

Chief Accountable Officer
Cathy Winfield

The CCG achieved a cumulative surplus of £3,022k against the revenue resource allocation (RRL) of 
£161,376k for 2017/18 and in 2016/17 it achieved a surplus of £2,948k against a RRL of £156,337k.

The financial statements on pages 5 to 6 were approved by the Audit Committee on behalf of the Governing 
Body on 24th May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

The CCG achieved an in year surplus of £74k.



6

NHS South Reading CCG - Annual Accounts 2017-18

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018

2017-18 2016-17
£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Balance at 01 April (8,523) (7,161)
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (158,354) (153,389)

Net Recognised NHS CCG Expenditure for the Financial Year (158,354) (153,389)

Net funding 161,208 152,027

Balance at 31 March (5,669) (8,523)

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018

2017-18 2016-17
Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (158,354) (153,389)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (260) 0
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 897 (860)
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 0 0
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 (3,217) 2,190
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities 0 0
Provisions utilised 13 (66) (94)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 13 (19) (113)
Net Cash (Outflow) from Operating Activities (161,019) (152,266)

Net Cash (Outflow) before Financing (161,019) (152,266)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received 161,208 152,027
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 161,208 152,027

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 189 (239)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year (183) 56
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 6 (183)

The notes on pages 7 to 20 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1.0 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the  Group Accounting 
Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting 
policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  
Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most 
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The 
particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis [despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health 
under Section 30 of the Local  Audit and Accountability Act 2014].
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is 
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. 
Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by 
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If 
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
NHS South Reading CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2018 having joined with NHS Newbury and District CCG, NHS North and 
West Reading CCG and NHS Wokingham CCGs to establish NHS Berkshire West CCG with effect from 1 April 2018. 
This followed formal authorisation from NHS England, via correspondence dated 7th March 2018.

1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Pooled Budgets
The CCG has entered into a number of pooled budget arrangements between Berkshire West CCGs and Local Authorities,
including Reading Borough Local Authority under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006. The CCG has assessed the
accounting treatment of the pooled budget arrangement having regard to IFRS10, IFRS11, and IAS28. The CCG have assessed
that while joint control over the pooled budget is present, the substance of the arrangement is that the parties to the pooled budget
are each responsible for commissioning services from providers, with the risks and rewards arising from the contractual obligation
remaining with each respective commissioner.  The CCG has therefore recognised in its financial statements:

- The assets it controls
- The liabilities it controls
- The expenses it incurs
- Its share of the income from the pooled budget activities

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements:
Partially completed spells
Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end are apportioned across the financial years on the
basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay. The CCG use figures as agreed
with local Providers.
Maternity pathways
Expenditure relating to all antenatal maternity care is made at the start of the pathway. As a result, at the year-end part completed
pathways are treated as a prepayment. The CCG use figures as agreed with local Providers.  
Accruals
For goods and/or services that have been delivered but for which no invoice has been received/sent, the CCG has made an
accrual based upon known commitments, contractual arrangements that are in place and legal obligations.
Prescribing liabilities
NHS England actions monthly cash charges to the CCG for prescribing contracts. These are issued approximately 8 weeks in
arrears. The CCG use information provided by the NHS Business Authority as part of the estimate for full year expenditure.
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Notes to the financial statements
Continuing Care Provisions
Continuing Care provision relates to amounts set aside for Continuing Care Waiting List clients awaiting assessment at 31 March 
2018 and Continuing Care appeals arising within the last three financial years.  The final outcome has yet to be determined 
therefore the resultant financial effects remain uncertain at the year end.

The total cost of all outstanding Waiting List clients’ claims has been calculated using average local current nursing home and 
homecare package weekly costs for NHS CHC Adult Fully Funded clients multiplied by the number of days on the waiting list.  
Provision has been made at 38% as per recent average approvals rate for first-time applications for CHC funding.

The Appeals provision has been calculated on an individual basis for each client appealing against the CCG's decision of non-
eligibility.  The provision is based on the time period from the start-date of the claim up to 31st March 2018 (or RIP date) and either 
the actual weekly cost where known or the current average local nursing home  and homecare package weekly costs).  Provision 
has been made at 20% as per the current financial year’s appeal success rate.

Pay and non pay recharges
A proportion of the pay and non pay costs incurred in the year by the CCG have been recharged to NHS Newbury & District CCG,
NHS North & West Reading and NHS Wokingham CCG. NHS South Reading CCG and these three organisations operated within
an integrated management support structure. Shared costs incurred by the other three CCGs have also been recharged to the
CCG.
Costs which are specific to the running of each CCG are not recharged and remain costs within each specific CCG's Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Shared payroll costs are recharged across the three CCGs on a fair share basis. Shared non pay 
costs are also recharged on this basis as it is considered a reasonable proxy of the relative share of expenditure.

Pay recharges are shown net within the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Non pay and agency cost items are shown
net of related income.

1.5 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6 Employee Benefits
1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, 
including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent 
that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined 
benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of 
State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share 
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full 
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself 
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. 
The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s accounts. The assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future 
obligations. The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating 
expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised within finance income. The interest cost during the 
year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and 
losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.7 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are 
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.8.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s 
surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are 
recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether 
they are operating or finance leases.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.9 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a 
reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stock.  

1.10 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. 
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.

1.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using 
HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%)
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.85% (previously: minus 1.95%)
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the 
plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct 
expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not 
associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.12 Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to 
the NHS Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the 
NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

1.13 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been 
received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has 
expired.

1.14 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply 
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of 
VAT.

1.15 Foreign Currencies
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a 
foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting 
exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit in the period in 
which they arise.

1.16 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service 
or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control 
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that 
individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses 
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks 
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.17 Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the Clinical Commissioning Group in conjunction with one or more other parties but 
which are not performed through a separate entity. The Clinical Commissioning Group records its share of the income and 
expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

1.18 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC Group accounting manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2017-18.  These 
standards are still subject to FREM adoption and early adoption is not therefore permitted.
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH groups bodies)
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
·                IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021)
·                IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (application from 1 January 2019)
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17

Total Admin Programme Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Non-patient care services to other bodies 1,522 3 1,519 54
Other revenue 1,405 0 1,405 454
Total other operating revenue 2,927 3 2,924 508

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

3. Revenue

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1 Employee benefits
Total Permanent 

Employees
Other

£'000 £'000 £'000

Salaries and wages 164 164 0
Social security costs 18 18 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 23 23 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 205 205 0

4.1 Employee benefits
Total Permanent 

Employees
Other

£'000 £'000 £'000
Salaries and wages 164 164 0
Social security costs 18 18 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 23 23 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 205 205 0

4.2 Average number of people employed 2016-17

Total
Permanently 

Employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number
Total 4 4 0 4

2017-18

2016-17

2017-18

Other Operating Revenue (non-patient care services to other bodies) includes income from Newbury and District CCG, North 
and West Reading CCG and Wokingham CCG for a fair share of costs incurred by South Reading CCG. In 17/18 recharges 
between CCGs were netted off against Services from other CCGs and NHS England (note 5).

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of 
the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is generated wholly from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

The increase in "Other revenue" is mainly due to additional income received from NHSE for Estates Transformation Funding 
£246k, Identification Rules £678k and £215k Mental Health costs recharged.    
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4.3 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of the 
Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.

Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the 
underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme 
is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined 
at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with 
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.3.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of 
the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and 
financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The 
valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 2018 with summary 
global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS 
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be 
obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.3.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent 
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The 
Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM 
Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate. 

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are published 
by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by the scheme 
actuary.  This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer 
cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the 
Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or 
contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.

For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £57,631 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: £54,041) were payable to the NHS 
Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay.  The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years 
and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation.  The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was 
published on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.
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5. Operating expenses
2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17

Total Admin Programme Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 121 111 10 122
Executive governing body members 84 84 0 83
Total gross employee benefits 205 195 10 205

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 3,587 1,909 1,678 2,051
Services from foundation trusts 104,125 0 104,125 99,237
Services from other NHS trusts 1,034 0 1,034 948
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 16,215 0 16,215 16,350
Purchase of social care 469 0 469 716
Chair and Non Executive Members 314 314 0 327
Supplies and services – clinical 149 0 149 186
Supplies and services – general 396 64 332 192
Consultancy services 0 0 0 11
Establishment 370 33 337 191
Premises 41 3 38 238
Impairments and reversals of receivables 7 0 7 26
Audit fees 29 29 0 56
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services 0 0 0 1
Prescribing costs 15,169 0 15,169 14,892
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 19,078 0 19,078 18,105
Other professional fees excl. audit 110 92 18 150
Grants to Other bodies 0 0 0 26
Education and training 20 10 10 36
Provisions (19) (3) (16) (113)
CHC Risk Pool contributions 0 0 0 322
Other expenditure (18) (27) 9 (256)
Total other costs 161,076 2,424 158,652 153,692

Total operating expenses 161,281 2,619 158,662 153,897

-          The work undertaken by the Supplier is for the sole use of the CCGs in Berkshire West

-    The CCG shall make any claim or bring any proceedings only against the Supplier.

6. Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17
Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 3,281        17,019     3,451           17,461    
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 2,958        16,415     3,157           16,907    
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 90.16% 96.45% 91.48% 96.83%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,107        111,393   2,067           100,442  
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,029        110,866   1,999           101,218  
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 96.30% 99.53% 96.71% 100.77%

The CCG has a contract for the supply of external audit services with Ernst and Young LLP (the Supplier), which 
covers the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.  The contract includes limitation of liability in respect of the 
following:

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 
days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.       

-          If the Supplier becomes liable to the CCG or any other customer to which services are provided, for 
loss or damage to which other persons have contributed, liability shall be several and not joint with others 
and shall be limited to its fair share of that total loss or damage based on its contribution to the loss or 
damage relative to the others’ contributions. 

In 16/17 the CCG was given an allocation of £322k which the CCG had to pay into the national risk pool to cover the 
cost of PCT legacy claims (PUPoCs). There is no cost in 17/18 due to the vast bulk of claims having been settled.         
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7. Operating Leases

7.1 As lessee

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 0 37 0 37 0 234 0 234
Total 0 37 0 37 0 234 0 234

2017-18 2016-17

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been 
agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements. “The amounts included are the CCG’s fair share of 
the charges made by NHS Property services for administrative property, void space in clinical estate and any historic subsidisation of provider organisation 
occupancy of NHSPS owned clinical estate.” 
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8.  Inventories Current Current

2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000
Additions Loan Equipment - (Community Equipment) 260 0

9.  Trade and other receivables Current Current
2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000
NHS receivables: Revenue 338 1,221
NHS prepayments 760 870
NHS accrued income 87 35
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 3 121
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 44 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 95 0
VAT 25 2
Total Trade & other receivables 1,352 2,249

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17
£'000 £'000 £'000

Total 
2017-18

DH Group 
Bodies

Non DH 
Group 

All receivables 
prior years

£'000
By up to three months 319       316            3               1,217              
By three to six months -       -            -            1                    
By more than six months -       -            -            37                  
Total 319       316 3 1,255

10. Cash and cash equivalents

2017-18 2016-17
£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April (183) 56
Net change in year 189 (239)
Balance at 31 March 6 (183)

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 6 (0)
Cash and cash equivalents as in SOFP 6 (0)

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service 0 (183)
Total bank overdrafts 0 (183)

Balance at 31 March 6 (183)

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to 
Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The reduction in receivables is due to intra CCG recharges being settled in year.

£98k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The CCG purchases home equipment for patients in the community under pooled budget arrangements with West 
Berkshire District Council and the CCG share joint Control of this equipment as specified in the s75 pooled budget 
arrangements.

The equipment remain the property of the CCG until no longer required by the patient. The CCG has made a 
decision to recognise such equipment as loaned inventory.
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11. Trade and other payables Current Current
2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000
NHS payables: revenue 1,046 1,019
NHS accruals 879 3,069
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 3,158 1,739
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 911 3,485
Social security costs 7 7
Tax 7 9
Other payables and accruals 1,241 1,138

Total Trade & Other Payables 7,249 10,466

12. Borrowings
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no classified  Borrowings as at 31st March 2018 (2016/17 £183k).

13.   Provisions
Current Non-current Current Non-current
2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Continuing care 34 4 60 60
Other 0 0 3 0
Total 34 4 63 60

Total current and non-current 38 123

Continuing 
Care Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2017 120 3 123

Arising during the year 105 0 105
Utilised during the year (66) 0 (66)
Reversed unused (121) (3) (124)
Balance at 31 March 2018 38 0 38

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year 34 0 34
Between one and five years 4 0 4
After five years 0 0 0
Balance at 31 March 2018 38 0 38

£Nil is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31 March 2018 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group (£Nil in 2016/17).       

Other payables include £10k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018

Continuing Care provision relates to amounts set aside for Continuing Care Waiting List clients awaiting assessment at 31 March 
2018 and CHC appeals arising within the last three financial years.
 
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for 
liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (PUPoC claims).  However, the legal liability and the responsibility for processing and assessing the 
claims remains with the CCG. The total value of contingent liability accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 
March 2018 is £62k. 



16

NHS South Reading CCG - Annual Accounts 2017-18

14. Financial instruments

14.1 Financial risk management

14.1.1 Currency risk

14.1.2 Interest rate risk

14.1.3 Credit risk

14.1.3 Liquidity risk

14.2 Financial assets
Loans and 

Receivables
Loans and 

Receivables
2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000
Receivables:
·          NHS 424 1,255
·          Non-NHS 99 121
Cash at bank and in hand 6 0
Total at 31 March 529 1,376

14.3 Financial liabilities
Other Other

2017-18 2016-17
£'000 £'000

Payables:
·          NHS 1,925 4,089
·          Non-NHS 5,310 6,361
Other borrowings 0 183
Total at 31 March 7,235 10,633

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from 
resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need 
arises. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of 
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities 
rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject 
to review by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and 
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS 
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National 
Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations.

Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables 
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
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15. Operating segments
Gross 

expenditure Income Net expenditure Total 
assets

Total 
liabilities Net assets

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Commissioning of Healthcare 161,281 (2,927) 158,354 1,618 (7,287) (5,669)
Total 161,281 (2,927) 158,354 1,618 (7,287) (5,669)

The Clinical Commissioning Group and consolidated group consider they have only one segment: Commissioning of Healthcare.

16. Pooled budgets
Income Expenditure Under/(Over) 

Spend Income Expenditure Under/(Over) 
Spend

2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17
Total Pooled Budgets 7,149 (7,193) (44) 7,241 (7,220) 21

Community Equipment Store

Income Expenditure Under/(Over) 
Spend Income Expenditure Under/(Over) 

Spend
2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Community Equipment Stores 693 (693) 0 716 (716) 0

Better Care Fund Pooled Budget

The CCG's contribution and share of the expenditure is shown below;

Income Expenditure Under/(Over) 
Spend Income Expenditure Under/(Over) 

Spend
2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Pooled budget with Reading Borough Council and North 
and West Reading CCG 3,584 (3,584) 0 3,687 (3,680) 7

Pooled budget with Berks West CCGs & Council 2,872 (2,916) (44) 2,838 (2,824) 14
Better Care Fund 6,456 (6,500) (44) 6,525 (6,504) 21

The CCG has a pooled budget arrangement with the 6 other CCGs and Local authorities in Berkshire. The pool is hosted by West Berkshire Council

The CCG is involved in a number of pooled budget arrangements associated with the Better Care Fund, which are designed to facilitate greater integration of 
health and social care. These budget are pooled under the arrangements under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for joint commissioning arrangements.   

Although the pooled budget was overspent in 2017-2018, the CCG did not hold any cash balance in relation to the Better Care Fund. The CCG only drew down 
sufficient cash to make supplier payments in line with activity that was delivered.
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17. Related party transactions

2016-17

Payments Receipts Amounts Amounts Net Payments

Member Related Party to Related from Related owed to due from to Related

Parrty Party Related Party Related Party Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Dr Bu Thava - Governing Body  GP 
Member Dr R Mittal & Partners 1,796 0 1 0 1,294

Dr Bu Thava - Governing Body  GP 
Member

Clinical Director - South 
Reading Alliance 231 0 0 0 0

Dr Helen George - Governing Body GP 
Member GP - Melrose Surgery

Dr Aparna Balaji - Governing Body GP 
Member GP - Melrose Surgery

Dr Raju Reddy - Governing Body GP 
Member

Secondary Care Lead - 
Gloucestershire CCG 0 0 215 0 0

Dr Kajal Patel - Governing Body GP 
Member GP - Reading Walk-in Centre

Dr Aparna Balaji - Governing Body GP 
Member GP - Reading Walk-in Centre

• Clinical Commissioning Groups
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions 
with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are:

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local 
government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Local Authority in respect of joint commissioning arrangements.

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

GP practices within the area have joined other professionals in the Clinical Commissioning Group in order to plan, design and pay for services. Under these 
arrangements some services are designed to be delivered in a primary care setting. This involves paying GP practices for the delivery of these services. A GP 
is also paid by the CCG for taking a lead role on clinical services. All such arrangements are in the ordinary course of business and follow the CCGs strict 
governance and accountability arrangements. From 1 April 2016, the CCG had delegated commissioning responsibility for primary care GP services. This 
means that the CCG now makes all payments due to practices based on the Statement of Financial Entitlement and the Premises Direction and this has 
resulted In a  significant increase in the amounts recorded against practice based Governing Body members. Material transactions are disclosed appropriately 
in the accounts.  

During the year none of the board members of the governing body or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, have undertaken 
any material transactions with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) other than those disclosed below.

The amounts in the table above represent the amounts paid to organisations named rather than the individual.  
Where an organisation appears several times, it is a duplicate of the previous entry but related to a different 
G   

1,012

2,056 0 0 0 2,035

2017-18

1,169 0 12



19

NHS South Reading CCG - Annual Accounts 2017-18

18. Events after the end of the reporting period

19. Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Target Performance Target 
Achieved?

Target Performance Target 
Achieved?

Expenditure not to exceed income 161,355 161,281 YES 156,845 153,897 YES
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 YES 0 0 YES
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 158,428 158,355 YES 156,337 153,389 YES
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 YES 0 0 YES
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 YES 0 0 YES
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 2,681 2,616 YES 2,686 2,685 YES

NHS South Reading CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2018 and has merged with NHS North & West Reading CCG, NHS Newbury and District CCG and NHS Wokingham CCG to form NHS Berkshire 
West CCG with effect from 1 April 2018. The assets and liabilities of NHS South Reading CCG haven been transferred to NHS Berkshire West CCG on a going concern basis.

2017-18 2016-17
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20 Losses

Total 
Number of 

Cases
Total Value 

of Cases

Total 
Number of 

Cases
Total Value 
of Cases

2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17
Number £'000 Number £'000

Administrative write-offs 1 7 1 26

Total 1 7 1 26

The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as 
follows:

The Administrative write-offs figure contains £7k which was written off as uncollectable as part  the 50% risk sharing 
arrangement with Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust for OSV - Non EEA ( Overseas Visitors - outside European Economic 
Area) who are required to pay for NHS treatments received. 
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